
 

      Chester County Council Meeting July 19th, 2021                                                                    1 
 

                  CHESTER COUNTY COUNCIL MEETING 
  R. Carlisle Roddey Chester County Government Complex 

1476 J.A. Cochran Bypass Chester, SC 29706 
   Monday, July 19th, 2021, at 6:00 PM 

    Interim Supervisor Dr. Wylie Frederick Presiding 
 

                                                                                      Agenda                             
 
 
 

1.        Call to Order  

2.      Pledge of Allegiance and Invocation  

3. Approval of Minutes -July 6th, 2021 Council minutes. 

4. Citizen Comments 

5. Public Hearing  
   a. 3rd Reading of 2021-7 Ordinance to Repeal section 46-94 of the Chester County Code-transporting 
   loose material.  

 
6. Ordinances/Resolutions/Proclamations 

a. 3rd Reading of 2021-7 Ordinance to Repeal section 46-94 of the Chester County Code- 
transporting loose material.  

   

b. Resolution 2021-14 To Provide A Certification Pursuant To The South Carolina Textile Communities 
Revitalization Act (S.C. Code Section 12-65-10 Et Seq.) For The Property Formerly Known As The 
Manetta Mill On Edgeland Road In Chester County, South Carolina. 

 

7. Old Business  
 a. Update regarding white water construction in Great Falls- Councilman Vaughn-Christy Churchill  
(Duke Energy). 

b.  3rd Reading of CCMA21-02: Chester Land Holdings, LLC. Request Tax Map # 123-00-00-032-000 
located along Edgeland Road, Edgemoor SC, be rezoned from R2 (Rural Two) to PD (Planned 
Development) Planning Commission voted 3-4 to deny.  
 
c.  3rd Reading of CCMA21-04: Chester Land Holdings, LLC. Request Tax Map # 123-00-00-078-000 
located along Edgeland Road, Edgemoor SC, be rezoned from R2 (Rural Two) to PD (Planned 
Development) Planning Commission voted 7-0 to deny.  

 
d.  3rd Reading of CCMA21-15:  JDSI, LLC by Judson Stringfellow request Tax Map # 124-00-00-024-
000 located off Hwy 9, Richburg, SC be rezoned from RS-1 (Single Family) to PD (Planned 
Development). Planning Commission voted 4-2 to approve.  

 

e.  3rd Reading of CCMA21-16:  JDSI, LLC by Judson Stringfellow request Tax Map # 124-00-00-027-
000 located off Hwy 9, Richburg, SC be rezoned from R2 (Rural Two) to PD (Planned Development). 
Planning Commission voted 4-2 to approve.  

 



 

      Chester County Council Meeting July 19th, 2021                                                                    2 
 

f.  3rd Reading of CCMA21-17: - David Woods request Tax Map # 079-01-14-017-000 located at 730 
Sugarplum Road, Chester be rezoned from RG-1 (Multi Family) to RG-2 (General Residential). 
Planning Commission voted 7-0 to approve.  
 
g.  3rd Reading of CCMA21-18: - Eugene Raffaldt request Tax Map # 161-01-00-011-000 located at 
5584  Brooklyn Road, Great Falls be rezoned from RG-1 (Multi Family) to RG-2 (General 
Residential).Planning Commission voted 7-0 to approve. 
 

h. 3rd Reading of CCMA21-19: - Carolina Gypsum, LLC request Tax Map # 080-02-02-006-000 
located at 531 Wilson Street, Chester be rezoned from GC (General Commercial) to ID-2 (Limited 
Industrial). Planning Commission vote 7-0 to approve.   

 
8. New Business 

a. Award of Bid for the Hazmat building in the amount of $1,173,000.00 to JM Cope. – Jarrett Davis. 

                  b. Discuss adding a 90-day moratorium on new planned development applications. County Council 

c. Discuss a workshop with municipalities, Planning Commission and County Council for possible text 
changes, new zoning categories required for planned development applications. County Council. 
 
d. Discussion by County Council whether to revisit the revised Comprehensive and Gateway Plan also 
propose a Hwy Nine Corridor Plan. County Council. 

 
9. Boards and Commissions  

a. Resignation from the Rural Fire Commission-Interim Dr. Frederick.  

b. Appointment to the Fort Lawn Fire Protection Board- Councilman Jordan.  
 

10. Executive Session 
a. To receive legal advice regarding Gallo. Attorney Winters. 

b. To receive legal advice regarding Project 2043. Attorney Winters. 

c. To receive legal advice regarding Project 2106. Attorney Winters. 

d. To receive legal advice regarding Project 2164. Attorney Winters. 

e. To discuss a contractual matter regarding infrastructure. Attorney Winters.  

  11.     Council Actions Following Executive Session  
                   a. Action taken regarding legal advice of Gallo.  

b. Action taken regarding legal advice for  Project P2043. 

c. Action taken regarding legal advice for Project P2106. 

             d. Action taken regarding legal advice for Project P2164. 

      e. Action taken regarding legal advice for infrastructure.  

  12.       Council Comments 

  13.       Adjourn 

 



 

      Chester County Council Meeting July 19th, 2021                                                                    3 
 

Pursuant to the Freedom of Information Act, the Chester News & Reporter, The Herald in Rock Hill, SC, WSOC-TV, Channel 9 Eyewitness News, the Mfg. 
Housing Institute of SC, WRHI Radio Station, C&N2 News, WCNC News and Capitol Consultants were notified and a notice was posted on the bulletin board 
at the Chester County Government Building 24 hours prior to the meeting. 

 

 
     * * * P U B L I C  N O T I C E * * *    

Chester County Council has relaxed some of the COVID measures put into place for personal appearances at County Council 
meetings but continues to encourage social distancing while in County facilities. 

 
 

  Citizens Comments: 

                                    Please sign the sign-in sheet upon arrival, name, address and telephone number. 
                                    Each citizen will be limited to three minutes. 
                                    Large groups (more than 5) speaking on the same position on an issue must appoint one representative.  
                                    to speak on behalf of the group. 

 
          Public Hearings: 

                                    Please sign the sign-in sheet upon arrival, name, address and telephone number and topic. 
                                    Each speaker will be limited to a three-minute presentation. 
                                    Large groups (more than 5) speaking on the same position on an issue must appoint one representative. 
                                    to speak on behalf of the group. 
                                                                                 When introduced: 

                                    Approach the podium, state your name and address. 
                                    Speak loudly and clearly making sure that the microphone is not obstructed. 
                                    Do not address the audience – direct all comments to Council. 
                                    Do not approach the Council table unless directed. 

 

Anyone addressing Council will be called out of order if you: 

                                      Use profanity. 
                                      Stray from the subject. 
                                      Make comments personally attacking an individual member of Council.    
                             

 

 



 

 
 
 

Chester County Council Meeting July 6th, 2021                                                                       1 
 

     CHESTER COUNTY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  
               R. Carlisle Roddey Chester County Government Complex 
                         1476 J.A. Cochran Bypass Chester, SC 29706 
                                                    Tuesday, July 6th, 2021 at 6:00 PM 
            
       Present:  Interim Chairman Dr. Wylie Frederick, Vice Chairman Joe Branham, Councilman Brad Jordan,  
        Councilman Mike Vaughn, Councilwoman Mary Guy, Councilman Pete Wilson, Clerk to Council Karen Lee  
        and County Attorney Joanie Winters.  Councilman Killian was absent.       
         
          
1. Call to Order-Interim Chairman Dr. Frederick called the meeting to order at 6:01 PM. 

2. Pledge of Allegiance and Invocation. Pledge was recited in unison; Councilwoman Guy gave the invocation. 
 

3. Approval of Minutes-June 21st, 2021 Council Minutes. 
Councilman Wilson motioned to approve, second by Vice Chairman Branham. Vote 5-0 to approve.  
 

4. Citizen Comments 

Jeff Harris, 4354 Simpson Road, Edgemoor, SC asked Council to table the third reading for planned 
developments scheduled for July 19th. He asked Council to do more independent research to make a decision 
that was best for the community.   
 
Barry Dodson, 3631 Ernandez Road, Richburg, SC stated planned developments were not good for the 
community also a bad deal for Chester County.  
 
Joe Moss, 3559 Ernandez Road, Richburg, SC stated you only get one shot of getting it right the first time, he 
asked not to rush to a decision, but to take time to learn as much as they could and make the best possible 
decision for the people of Chester County that live here and the ones coming. 
 
Chaplin Spencer, Jr., 226 East Main St, Rock Hill, SC stated he represented several residents who were not 
against growth but against bad growth. Planned developments were meant to benefit the community not the 
developer.  
 
Judson Stringfellow, 2116 Crown Centre, Charlotte, NC stated he and his team had been working on plans for 
the PUD request since 2018, this was not an overnight idea.  
 
Roxann James, 3007 Steele Village Rd, Rock Hill SC, stated she wanted more information on the 2014 CPST 
balance, walking trails and park grants. She wants to see the new construction plans for Rodman, would like to 
add walking trails.   
 

5. Public Hearing- Interim Chairman Dr. Frederick opened the public hearing. No one signed up to speak.  

a. 3rd Reading of 2021-8 Ordinance to Adopt a Fund Balance Policy. 
Interim Chairman Dr. Frederick closed the public hearing.  
 

6. Ordinances/Resolutions/Proclamations 

a. 3rd Reading of 2021-8 Ordinance to Adopt a Fund Balance Policy. 
Attorney Winters stated for the record the minimum assignment would be 25% not to exceed 50 % percent of 
the general fund. Treasurer Tommy Darby said currently as the budget stood now 25% of the budget would be 



 

 
 
 

Chester County Council Meeting July 6th, 2021                                                                       2 
 

6.2 million with 50% being around 12.5 million to give a range for now. Currently it’s at 10.1 million and 
expected to be about 10.5 million to close out the fiscal year. Councilman Vaughn motioned to approve, second 
by Councilman Jordan. Vote 5-0 to approve.  
 

            b. 2nd Reading of 2021-9 Ordinance to Repeal section 46-94 of the Chester County Code-transporting  
             loose material. Councilman Wilson motioned to approve, second by Councilman Vaughn. Vote 5-0 to 
             to approve.  
 
 c. Resolution 2021-13 To Approve Chester County 2021-2022 Departmental Organizational Charts. 

Human Resource Director Hyatte Kelsey stated there were several changes to the charts. In the Supervisor                   
department the executive administrative assistant position was dissolved and replaced with assistant county  

             supervisor. In Building Maintenance four new positions were added, two maintenance workers who will be 
             cutting grass since a reduction in some of the grass contracts had been eliminated. Also, two custodians’ positions 
             were added he believed the plan was to reduce or eliminate some of those contracts as well. An Animal Control  
             Director was added to the Animal Control department, the Treasurer’s department restructured their chart and  

added a Grants Writer. In EMS the Operation Manager was unfrozen. The Road Dept also unfroze a truck driver 
position. The Assessor’s office restructured their chart to make it flow with what everyone does. In Human 
Resources he stated he changed the name from Risk/Benefits Technician to Benefits Administrator/Risk Tech. 
Mr. Kelsey stated Litter Enforcement/Nuisance Abatement Officer change to Code Enforcement Officer. The IT 
Director had requested adding a GIS Technician (unfunded) as a placement position to his chart. He and 911 
Director Doug McMurray were in the process of trying to find a way to fund the position since there is a great 
need to have someone handle the County’s GIS system. The other was title change from Moral Wellness Director 
to Parks & Recreation Director.  
 
Councilman Wilson asked if Mr. Kelsey’s office would supply the County Attorney job descriptions for the 
Assistant County Supervisor and the Grant’s Writer positions for her to review along with Council seeing them 
as well. Councilman Wilson motioned to approve, second by Vice Chairman Branham. Vote 5-0 to approve.  
 

 7.         Old Business   

a. 3rd Reading of CCMA21-14: Judy Funderburk request Tax Map # 158-01-08-007-000 located at 1474 
Catawba River Road, Fort Lawn, SC be rezoned from R1 (Rural One) to RG-2 (General Residential). Planning 

Commission voted 6-0 to deny. Councilman Vaughn motioned to approve the rezoning, second by Councilman  
Wilson. Vote 5-0 to approve.  

 b. 2nd Reading of CCMA21-17: - David Woods request Tax Map # 079-01-14-017-000 located at 730 
            Sugarplum Road, Chester be rezoned from RG-1 (Multi Family) to RG-2 (General Residential). 
            Planning Commission voted 7-0 to approve. Councilwoman Guy motioned to approve, second by Vice  
            Chairman Branham. Vote 5-0 to approve.  
 
 c. 2nd Reading of CCMA21-18: - Eugene Raffaldt request Tax Map # 161-01-00-011-000 located at 5584  
            Brooklyn Road, Great Falls be rezoned from RG-1 (Multi Family) to RG-2 (General Residential). 
 Planning Commission voted 7-0 to approve. Councilman Vaughn motioned to approve, second by  
            Councilwoman Guy. Vote 5-0 to approve.  
 

d. 2nd Reading of CCMA21-19: - Carolina Gypsum, LLC request Tax Map # 080-02-02-006-000 located      
at 531 Wilson Street, Chester be rezoned from GC (General Commercial) to ID-2 (Limited Industrial). 

 Planning Commission vote 7-0 to approve. Vice Chairman Branham motioned to approve with a reverter   
            clause if the applicant closed the business, it would revert back to GC, second by Councilman Jordan .  
            Vote 5-0 to approve.  
 
  
 
 



 

 
 
 

Chester County Council Meeting July 6th, 2021                                                                       3 
 

               e. From CCTC: 
  
                  1. Action taken on repair on Wylie Road. Taken as information.  

                  2. Action taken for signage on Sugar Plum Road. Taken as information. 

       
                  3. Action taken regarding the update on the Pedestrian Crossing Agreement at Railroad at Pizza Hut.  
                  Council asked Attorney Winters to talk to the railroad and get more information and follow up with Council.  
           
      4. Action taken regarding the update on Craigbrow and Quail Hollow sidewalks.  
      Vice Chairman Branham motioned to give Bill Coleman authorization to apply for the TAP’s program, 
      second by Councilman Vaughn. Vote 5-0 to approve.  
 

     5. Action taken regarding the update on Baseball Alley. Taken as information. 

                  6. Action taken regarding update JA Cochran Bypass and Ashford Street Sidewalk installation. 
Taken as information.  

                  7. Action taken regarding Deerbranch Road.  Taken as information. 

                  8. Action taken regarding the Recommendation of Award for Britt Lane. 
                  Councilwoman Guy motioned to approve, second by Councilman Jordan. Vote 5-0 to approve. 
 

       9. Action taken regarding the approval to the SCDOT in the amount of $500.00 for dedication  
      markers Christopher King, Sr. Memorial Highway Dedication Sign. 
      Councilwoman Guy motioned, second by Councilman Jordan. Vote 5-0 to approve. 
 

                   10. Action taken to reimburse the Road Department for Road Maintenance from April 21, 2021 to  
                   June 18, 2021 in the amount of $14,505.01 dollars. Vice Chairman Branham motioned to approve, second 
      by Councilwoman Guy. Vote 5-0 to approve.   
                   
  8.        New Business 

a. Council to consider a multi-year contract for Election Systems & Software Maintenance in the 
amount of $73,725 dollars.  Voter Registration Director Karen Roach. Councilman Wilson motioned to 
approve, second by Councilman Vaughn. Vote 5-0 to approve.  
  
b. Council to consider a 5-year 911 contract for UPS maintenance paid annually in the amount of  
$2540.16 dollars for the Sheriff’s Office. E 911 Director Doug McMurray.  Vice Chairman Branham 

             motioned to approve, second by Councilwoman Guy. Vote 5-0 to approve.   
 
             c. Council to consider a new 3-year contract for extended service for a Truvista line upgrade and RB office  
             line in the amount of $3700 + taxes for the Sheriff’s office and paid monthly. E911 Director Doug  
             McMurray. Councilman Vaughn motioned to approve, second by Vice Chairman Branham. Vote 5-0 to  
             approve.  
              
 d. Council to consider a 3-year contract service agreement renewal for Johnson Controls fire  
             inspections in the amount of $3,900.22 annually. E911 Director Doug McMurray. Councilman Jordan  
             motioned to approve provided a revised contract is issued removing the indemnity provisions, second by Vice  
             Chairman Branham. Vote 5-0 to approve.   
 
 e. Discuss the Sheriff’s office request to apply for a CPD De-escalation Training Grant. - Sheriff Dorsey 
             Councilwoman Guy motioned to approve, second by Vice Chairman Branham. Vote 5-0 to approve.  
 
  



 

 
 
 

Chester County Council Meeting July 6th, 2021                                                                       4 
 

             f. Requirements under State Law for Development Agreements- County Council. 
 Attorney Winters stated under the South Carolina local government development agreement act in title six, 

the agreement guides the developments, it helps dictate things that Council has been concerned about such as 
design standards and infrastructure. The statute requires a policy and procedure to guide the process of a 
development agreement. It also has very strict requirements for development agreements. She stated it can't 
just be whatever we want, it has to follow South Carolina law, in order to do a development plan, we have to 
have an updated comprehensive plan, which is something that I know  Council's been working towards 
development agreements. They are very specific and detailed to a project you don't have one size fits all. You 
do not have a template; they are designed for each development. The policies and procedures for development 
agreements must be adopted by ordinance.   

  
  9.        Boards and Commissions  

a. Resignation from the Board of Assessment of Appeals. Interim Chairman Dr. Frederick. 
Councilwoman Guy motioned to accept Gene Loving’s resignation, second by Councilman Jordan. 
Vote 5-0 to approve.  

 10.       Executive Session-Vice Chairman Branham motioned to go to executive session, second by Councilman Vaughn. 
           Vote 5-0 to approve.  Vice Chairman Branham motioned to temporarily suspend executive session and go back  
            to regular session, second by Councilman Wilson. Vote 5-0 to approve. 
 
           Regular Session:  Councilman Vaughn motioned to add “discussion of pending projects” to the agenda,  
           second by Vice Chairman Branham. Vote 5-0 to approve.  

 
            Jarrett Davis from Brun DMC gave an update of current projects ongoing in the County. He stated the North  
            Chester Fire Station site work had been awarded and was at 70 percent complete. The vertical portion of the  
            project the design of the structure had been completed and had been submitted for public solicitation.   
 
            The Hazmat Building project that will be located on the southeast corner of this property, the design build  
            solicitation is due for submittals to the County this Thursday morning at 10AM. The Animal Control facility had 
            been looked at with several different options to build the facility on a new site in phases or renovating the existing  
            facility. Mr. Davis said you would only be getting an extra 800 square feet to the existing building, if the new  
            site is chosen it would be 21,000 square feet once everything is completed. The cost to renovate the existing  
            shelter would be around 1.4 to 1.6 million, building a new one around 4.5 to 5 million dollars and done in phases.  
 
           The Rodman Complex design came in higher than the budget for 1.1 million, the design they were asked to do  
           came in at 3.2 million which would complete the whole master plan. If they move forward with the plan for  
            Rodman they would not keep the existing ballfields there now; they would be demolished and redone.  
 
           Councilman Jordan motioned to go back to executive session, second by Councilwoman.  
           Guy. Vote 5-0 to approve.   
 
           Executive Session: 

a. To receive legal advice regarding the 2018 Bond.  Attorney Winters. 

b. To receive legal advice regarding Project 2043. Attorney Winters. 

c. To receive legal advice regarding Project 2106. Attorney Winters.  

d. To receive legal advice regarding the local sales option tax-Attorney Winters. 

e. To receive legal advice regarding County Infrastructure. - Attorney Winters.  

 

 



 

 
 
 

Chester County Council Meeting July 6th, 2021                                                                       5 
 

  11.     Council Actions Following Executive Session  
            Councilwoman Guy motioned to go back to regular session, second by Vice Chairman Branham.  
            Vote 5-0 to approve.  
 
              a. Action taken regarding legal advice for the 2018 Bond. Taken as information.  

b. Action taken regarding legal advice for Project 2043. Taken as information. 

c. Action taken regarding legal advice for Project 2106. Taken as information. 

d. Action taken regarding legal advice for the local sales option tax. Taken as information. 

e. Action taken regarding legal advice for County Infrastructure. Taken as information. 

  12.     Council Comments-None 

  13.     Adjourn 
            Councilwoman Guy motioned to adjourn, second by Councilman Jordan. Vote 5-0 to adjourn.  
 
            Time 10:15 PM 
 
Pursuant to the Freedom of Information Act, the Chester News & Reporter, The Herald in Rock Hill, SC, WSOC-TV, Channel 9 Eyewitness News, the Mfg. Housing 
Institute of SC, WRHI Radio Station, C&N2 News, WCNC News and Capitol Consultants were notified, and a notice was posted on the bulletin board at the Chester 
County Government Building 24 hours prior to the meeting. 
 



1 
 

 
 
 
 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA )   Ordinance No. 2021-9 
    ) 
COUNTY OF CHESTER  ) 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO REPEAL CHESTER COUNTY CODE §46-94 ENTITLED 
“TRANSPORTING LOOSE MATERIAL” 

 
 WHEREAS, Chester County Council has determined it is necessary to repeal a 

section of the Chester County Code; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Chester County Council is empowered by the provisions of S.C. Code 

Ann. §§44-55-1010, et seq., and S.C. Code Ann. §4-9-35, as amended (the “Enabling 

Acts”), to enact ordinances relating to the management of the County in accordance 

with existing laws, policies and regulations; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the County enacted Ordinance §46-94 as a standalone ordinance 

meant to ensure tarping of vehicles carry loose material; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the County subsequently enacted a revised Ordinance §46-93 which 

under subsection (2)(a) the issue of loose materials is addressed; and 

 

 WHEREAS, in the interest of eliminated duplication and possible confusion, it 

becomes necessary to repeal §46-94; and 

 

WHEREAS, Chester County Council has determined that §46-94 of the Chester 

County Code has become conflicting and superfluous and should be repealed since it is 

now addressed in a more comprehensive ordinance. 

   

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNTY COUNCIL FOR CHESTER 
COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, DULY ASSEMBLED THAT THE FOLLOWING ORDINANCE IS 
HEREBY ADOPTED: 
 
 Chester County Council does hereby determine that Chester County Code §46-94 
has become conflicting and superfluous and is hereby repealed in its entirety.  
 



2 

 Ordinance No. 2021-9 

This Ordinance shall be effective upon adoption by the Chester County Council 
on the date of the final reading approval. 

Enacted and approved this ____day of _________, 2021. 

CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

By:_________________________________ 
Dr. Wylie Frederick 

Interim Supervisor, Chester County 

Attest: 

By:________________________ 
Karen Lee, Clerk to County Council 
Chester County, South Carolina 

First Reading:  
Second Reading: 
Public Hearing: 

June 21st, 2021  
July 6th, 2021 
                2021 

Third Reading: ________ ___, 2021 

Chester County, South Carolina 



Resolution2021-14

A RESOLUTION 

TO PROVIDE A CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO THE SOUTH CAROLINA TEXTILE COMMUNITIES 

REVITALIZATION ACT (S.C. CODE SECTION 12-65-10 ET SEQ.) FOR THE PROPERTY FORMERLY 

KNOWN AS THE MANETTA MILL ON EDGELAND ROAD IN CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

WHEREAS, Lennar Carolinas, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Developer"), 

desires to redevelop the abandoned textile mill site located in the County of Chester, State of 

South Carolina, formerly known as the Manetta Mills and formerly owned by Lando Land 

Company bearing Chester County Tax Number 123-00-00-003-000 (the "Property"); and 

WHEREAS, as part of the redevelopment by Developer, the Property is anticipated to 

qualify for state income tax credits pursuant to the South Carolina Textiles Communities 

Revitalization Act {Chapter 65 of Title 12 of the South Carolina Code) (the "Textile Mill Statute"); 

and 

WHEREAS, the Textile Mill Statute contains a detailed definition of the specific property 

that will qualify as a "textile mill site" located in a "distressed area" as designated by the 

applicable council of governments (as defined in the Textile Mill Statute); and 

WHEREAS, Developer plans to file one or more Notices of Intent to Rehabilitate with the 

South Carolina Department of Revenue pursuant to the Textile Mill Statute; and 

WHEREAS, Developer has requested a certification as a textile mill site pursuant to 

Section 12-65-60 of the Textile Mill Statute from the Chester County Council; and 

WHEREAS, the Chester County Council has, after careful investigation and due 
deliberation, determined that the redevelopment of the Property will be beneficial to the County 

of Chester, and the County agrees to provide the certification as set forth herein in compliance 

with Section 12-65-60 of the Textile Mill Statute. 

NOW TEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Chester County Council: 

1. All recitals set forth above are incorporated by reference in this Resolution.

2. Developer purchased the Property from Fishing Creek Associates, LLC on August

21, 2019 and has submitted to the County a request for certification of the Property ("Request 

for Certification") as an abandoned textile mill site pursuant to Section 12-65-60 of the Textile 

Mill Statute. 



3. The County has reviewed the Developer's Request for Certification, conferred with

the Developer and conducted a review of its records concerning the Property. 

4. The Property was part of the land formerly owned by Manetta Mills, which

operated a facility that was initially used for textile manufacturing operations and for ancillary 

uses to those operations (i.e. a "textile mill") as more particularly defined in Section 12-65-20(3) 

of the Textile Mill Statute. 

5. At least eighty percent of the textile mill structures on the Property have been

closed continuously to business or otherwise nonoperational as a textile mill prior to January 1, 

2020 and therefore, the Property is "abandoned" as defined in Section 12-65-20(1) of the Textile 

Mi II Statute. 

6. The Property, consisting of approximately 366 acres, constitutes a textile mill site

consistent with Section 12-65-20(4) of the Textile Mill Statute. 

7. In accordance with Section 12-65-30(D) of the Textile Mill Statute, (i) the facility

has not previously received tax credits under the Textile Mill Statute and (ii)neither Developer 

nor any affiliate of Developer owned the Property when it was operational and immediately prior 

to its abandonment. 

8. That this Resolution is intended to comply with the certification requirements set

forth in Section 12-65-60 of the Textile Mill Statute. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT this Resolution shall take effect upon its adoption. 

DONE IN REGULAR MEETING THIS DAY OF ___ � 2021. 

COUNTY COUNCIL OF CHESTER COUNTY 

Wylie Frederick 

Interim County Supervisor 

ATTESTED: 

Karen Lee 

Clerk of County Council of Chester County 

2 







CCMA21-02: Chester Land Holdings, LLC. Request Tax Map # 123-00-00-032-000 located 
along Edgeland Road, Edgemoor SC, be rezoned from R2 (Rural Two) to PD (Planned 
Development)  
 
Sara Shirley with America Engineering stepped to the podium and stated she is here to represent 
Chester Land Holdings. Ms. Shirley thanked the commissioners for letting her be here and said 
they are very excited about this project. I will give you just a little bit of context. I am sure you are 
very familiar with the site. We are very conveniently located between Chester, Rock Hill and 
Lancaster. Very easy drives from Ernandez Road and Edgeland Road. It is 336 acres for the one 
property and the balance 90 some to create 426 acres total.  
 
This is our master plan. This master plan was submitted along with a conceptual rezoning plan. It 
also provides levels of commitment for the site. In regard to storm water, density controls, 
community controls, architectural controls, things like that. I wanted to give you a little bit of the 
vision of the plan first and foremost.  
 
This is very well located along the intersection like I said. The southern half of the property is a 
Limited Commercial zone currently. The northern half of the property is a R2 zone. In the district 
Gateway Plan, there is actually two different zones that is recommended for the property. There is 
a little bit of the PD district that overrides our property and then some of it is what is called a rural 
residential. You will see that the existing zoning actually already allows, limited commercial, 
already allows townhomes and apartments. And the residential R2 district already allows for single 
family detached homes. So, one of the things we wanted to stress about the rezoning is that we are 
not actually asking for a change in use in any of these zones. But just for the flexibility in lot sizes.  
We understand that there is a great need for housing in Chester County. And a great need of 
housing for people all across all age groups, all across all income sectors. We are trying to meet 
all the needs of people that we can on the site by providing a mix of apartments, townhomes and 
single family detached lots. Even within the single family detached we will have different lot sizes, 
depending on the desires of the people. All of these will be for sale units except for the apartments 
which will be, of course, for rent at market rate.  
 
So, our vision. Winchester offers a master plan residential community with high quality homes. 
We will have at least an HOA if not multiple HOA’s. As part of the neighborhood, we have a tree 
lined boulevard that will go through the center of the site, through the center of the single family 
detached homes. Off of that boulevard we are going to have little neighborhood pockets. Little 
enclaves, so that you have got a smaller neighborhood within the whole. So, it does not feel like 
one large…. It is one large community, but it is several sub communities within the whole. Each 
one of these little enclave neighborhoods will have their own pocket parks. We have worked with 
the land in order to protect all the natural features that are on site. We are looking to provide 
buffering along the creek. And we are looking to make sure that we take care of all the stormwater 
control. So, anything that will drain off of our site we will treat and protect before it goes back into 
the earth.  
 
Some of the multiple family, multiple housing options, the apartments, and townhomes, we are 
even going to offer one- and two-story homes to help that market cover empty nesters looking for 
master downs. People that are looking for smaller homes, and people looking for larger homes for 



their big families. So, we have got all of our traditional design elements into this. The smaller 
enclaves, tree lined boulevards, pocket parks. We are going to have a club house and a pool to help 
serve the single family detached and the townhomes as part of that. And then the apartment 
community will have its own amenity package as well. There is an economy of scale that comes 
in, the more homes that you can have in a community means better amenities, more in the amenity 
package because it helps spread the HOA cost amongst more residents. It helps keep those HOA 
maintenance cost down. This is a long-time investment. We understand there… we are gearing for 
about two thousand homes over the span of ten to fifteen years. We are looking in providing an 
investment with the community.  We are all Carolina born and raised and we are looking to make 
sure that we bring the best product that we can to Chester County.  We are very excited about it 
because we know once we are here, we are going to be here for the long run. All of the 
infrastructure improvements that will be required as part of this plan, roadway improvements, 
water and sewer expansion, storm water improvements. All those would be responsibilities of the 
developer to finance, install and maintain.  
 
One of the questions we had asked, we actually held a voluntary community meeting as part of 
this. You will hear some of the community members tonight. We wanted to do this as a way to 
reach out to the community before we came before the Planning Commission and the County 
Council to help hear, we want to listen and hear what the citizens have to say, and we want to make 
sure we are meeting the goals of the county. Four of the themes of the Gateway district that we 
feel we can support as part of this neighborhood are creating destination, connecting nature and 
advancing infrastructure.  And most important, and probably the less obvious one is creating 
destination. Number one in the Gateway District Master Plan is the availability of additional 
housing and the quality of existing and future housing are important components of the continued 
growth and prosperity of the Gateway District. So, we feel we can meet that goal by proving variety 
of home choices for all of our age groups and incomes. High quality houses for all of those home 
choices, and meeting more market needs and housing demands through all those choices.  
 
We are meeting the goal of connecting nature by providing all of our natural features, access to all 
of our nature features on site through pedestrian networks, walking trails, pocket parks, access 
down to the creek, sidewalk connections. We really want people to get out and about and really 
experience nature and have the opportunity to do so.  
 
Lastly, advancing infrastructure. The existing infrastructure needs to be improved in order to 
continue the growth of the county. Our property is actually labeled as an undeveloped piece of 
property. And, as such is considered by the Gateway district an infield development. So, one of 
the goals is all of the infrastructure providers in the Gateway district support the growth and future 
development. The regulatory agencies are with them and working with them throughout the 
process to make sure all of the goals and regulations are met. We will be providing infield 
development for this undeveloped land. Providing access to water and sewer and the expansion of 
the existing system. And access to major roads, such as Edgeland Road and Interstate-77. And 
again, all of the infrastructure improvements that we are providing as part of this will be developer 
funded.  
 
Lastly, I just want to reiterate, we are here to provide homes for families. Active adults. Young 
adults. We are here to help meet that housing need. Even driving down tonight I see all of the now 



hiring signs for all of the industry. And industry is a major sector of the county. And I know that 
people are looking for homes to live here so that they do not have to commute in from outside. So, 
some of the amenities, I just want to go through really quick. Just some traditional amenities we 
want to offer as part of this, seating areas, playgrounds for the kids, walking trails, swimming pool, 
dog parks, dogs are important to our residents as well. Some of the homes that we offer, this is just 
a very small sampling to give you guys an idea of the quality of the homes we are looking at 
committing for here. We have single family detached products. We work with a range of national 
and retail home builders. So, it is not limited to just one builder. We will have a couple different 
builders as this whole packet. And some of our townhomes and apartment communities.   
 
So, for that, I am just here to answer questions. I am happy to answer anything the commission 
has, or neighbors, and I will be available.  
 
Chairman Raines asked the commissioners if anyone had any questions. Commissioner Grant 
asked in your homeowner’s association, I am suspecting you are going to have some restrictions 
for each style neighborhood, is that correct? Ms. Shirley said yes sir. So, we will probably have a 
main HOA and if we need to have any sub HOA’s as part of that, like if there is an age targeted or 
an age restricted community as part of that, they will have their own separate HOA. But yes, the 
HOA would be in place to make sure that all of the maintenance is taken care of, all of the open 
spaces are taken care of and fees are collected. Commissioner Grant said so eventually the 
company is going to take care of all the entry ways when you first start and then turn it over to the 
HOA. Is that correct? Ms. Shirley said correct. Usually what happens is the developer will have a 
fund that will help start up the process until there is enough homes to start putting the fees back 
into the HOA. So yes, that will be taken care of from day one. Commissioner Grant said my next 
question is water and sewer are already located on Edgeland Road? Ms. Shirley said yes sir. We 
have confirmed with both Chester Wastewater Authority and Chester Metropolitan. There is a 24-
inch force main that runs along Edgeland for sewer availability and there is a water main, I forget 
the size right now, but there is at least a 12-inch water main that runs along Edgeland. 
Commissioner Grant said so sewer and water are available, Ms. Shirley said yes.  
 
Commissioner Howell asks, the sewer plant that is there, do you have an idea how much more you 
are going to add to that sewer plant or are y’all planning to help pay for additions to that sewer 
plant? Ms. Shirley said yes, currently there is capacity that is available at ultimate build out, if we 
do get to the 2,000 homes that we are goaling, that we are trying to get to, that would require some 
upgrades to the treatment plant. But we are in conversations with the Chester Wastewater 
Authority who is working with AECom to put together the master plan for the whole project. They 
are very supportive, and they understand that this is part of the process. Any upgrades that would 
be required as part of putting our neighborhood on the system we would pay for. Commissioner 
Howell then ask what about the Fire Departments, the burden that you are going to add to them, 
have you been in any discussions with those about what they would need to accommodate you? 
Ms. Shirley said with the tax base increase and the revenue stream that would come as part of the 
neighborhood we would be putting taxes back into the system obviously to help pay for the fire 
and police improvement. Commissioner Howell said you are building almost a small city for a 
volunteer fire department. Ms. Shirley said understood.  
 



Vice Chairman Smith had a question about the density on your stand-alone houses. What are the 
range we are looking at per acre? I am not talking about the flood plans, the buildable acres. Ms. 
Shirley said I have not calculated that but most of our single-family homes reside on the 336 acres. 
Right now, our goal is about 1,500 homes. So that works out to be about 5 units per acre. You can 
correct me if you have a calculator. One of the commitments that we have as part of this plan is 
that we are going to cap the density at 6 units to the acre. And that includes the apartments and the 
townhomes. So, the apartments and the townhomes help drive up that density sort of artificially. 
So, the single family, as another commitment we have as part of this, at least 50% of the total 
homes will be single family detached homes. That is in the designing plan.   Vice Chairman Smith 
says so the numbers you are giving me is for the entire parcels? Ms. Shirley said oh no I’m sorry, 
so for the entire parcel, 426 acres including the second parcel to the South of us, the density cap 
would be 6 units to the acre. Which at maximum if we could possibly build out, which we are not 
realistically being able to get to would be 2,400 homes. Vice Chairman Smith then asks is that a 
deal breaker as far as a limit on that? Ms. Shirley asks a limit on…..Vice Chairman Smith says if 
we lower it? Ms. Shirley said no, because we understand that real site conditions will dictate what 
we can actually build on site. Things like the grading cost for what it would take to put a house on 
a steep slope for instance. Most of the time, we like to avoid walls, so, if that means dropping a lot 
or moving a road to adjust for that. Realistically we would make sure it works. The numbers work 
basically.  
 
Commissioner Williams ask how many square footages would each house have? Ms. Shirley said 
we have not determined that but on average it is anywhere from 1,500 to 2,000. And it might go 
up depending on the size homes that get put… we are putting a lot of our larger lots along the 
perimeter of the property. Those homes could be anywhere from 2,500 to 3,000 and up.  
 
Commissioner Howell asks the distance between your homes in your paperwork states the sides 
would be three feet. Ms. Shirley said that would be at very bare minimum. At minimum we would 
have six feet. Usually, we do about ten feet between the homes. Commissioner Howell asks can 
that be put on your PD that it would be a minimum of ten?  Commissioner Howell asks staff if that 
is something we could do? Ms. Shirley ask to change the commitment? Director Levister said that 
would be something we would do at the preliminary plat procedure. Right now, all we are doing 
is trying to get the rezoning, once we present the plat then y’all can make the recommendations of 
what you would like from what they present to the county. Commissioner Howell said from what 
I understand, most of this property where she is putting the townhomes and the apartments is 
already zoned for that, correct? Ms. Shirley said it is the LC. Director Levister said it is Limited 
Commercial. No, Ms. Shirley corrects him. The larger parcel is zoned R2. Limited Commercial is 
96 acres. Commissioner Howell ask the 96 acres is where you will be putting the apartments and 
townhomes. Ms. Shirley said yes sir. Commissioner Howell said that is already zoned for that, 
correct? Ms. Shirley said correct. Commissioner Grant said I assume that will be the first one to 
built out, right? Ms. Shirley said no, we actually are planning on possibly looking at the single 
family detached. Just because we have a lot of nice road frontage, and we know that is where the 
majority of the need is now. Multi family and townhomes would come later on. Our goal right 
now is to start with the single family detached. Commissioner Grant asked if any executive style 
homes would be there, 3,000 or more feet? Do you have plans for that?  I know you are not 
prepared to speak about a plan right now, but is that the plans? Ms. Shirley said we have plans to 
put the larger lots, like the executive style houses on the site, yes sir.  



 
Commissioner Walley asks up to six houses per acre? Ms. Shirley said at the very maximum. What 
that means is that we cannot build over that. And most likely the actual number will come down.  
 
Commissioner Howell asks the majority of the property where the single homes are going to be 
built, is zoned R2 now. Ms. Shirley said yes sir. Commissioner Howell asks staff what can they 
build now with water and sewer on R2, it has to be two acres? Director Levister said correct. Ms. 
Shirley said in the R2 zoning it actually specifies that an R2 zoning is only applied to areas where 
water and sewer is not available. So, because water and sewer is available at the site it actually 
helps justify smaller and flexible lot sizes.  
 
Chairman Raines states it looks like your drawing shows two entrances and exits. Is that correct? 
Ms. Shirley said we have got more. Actually, we will have two for the smaller little parts and the 
third is the main thoroughfare along Edgeland. And then there will be an entrance, at least one 
entrance for the apartments and townhomes. I apologize, the are actually two on Ernandez Road. 
Chairman Raines asked if that was discussed with the Fire Department about emergency access, 
more than one exit? Ms. Shirley said as part of this we will have to do a TIA. And in that TIA we 
will have to deal with Chester County Fire and Police and SCDOT. SCDOT has preliminary seen 
this plan. They actually told me I could eliminate an entrance if I wanted to, but I kept it on for 
now. Chairman Raines said they estimate the road can handle the traffic. Ms. Shirley said yes, 
absolutely yes. What we will do as part of this is, most likely what will happen as part of the traffic 
impact analysis is, we will need to install left and right turn lanes. And it will take a look at all the 
intersections around that we are affecting as part of the neighborhood, and if there are any off-site 
improvements we would be required to install or pay for this as well. Chairman Raines says that 
would be paid for by you, the developer? Ms. Shirley said yes.  
 
Commissioner Howell said, my other question, and it will be my last, the trash situation there. You 
are right there at the recycle center, it is pretty much maxed out at this time. Do y’all plan to 
contribute to the county to get improvements there for this many homes? Ms. Shirley said we have 
not had any discussions about it. Normally what we do with our neighborhoods is provide a private 
trash pickup. We would definitely work that out as part of the development. Commissioner Howell 
said so the homeowner association will have a trash service? Ms. Shirley said usually, yes sir.  
 
Vice Chairman Smith asked a question about the roads. On 901, I actually drove down there today, 
there are two developments that have already broke ground. Of course, everybody knows how it 
has been raining every day, there is silt just going down the road. Who is responsible for fixing 
that and cleaning it up? Ms. Shirley said that would be part of the erosion and sediment control 
plan.  That is responsibility of the contractor on site to make sure that all the measures are in place 
like the fencing to make sure the silt does not fall on the road. And then if there is a violation, an 
inspector would come out from DHEC to take care of that. They usually have inspectors so if there 
is something that is not working properly, it would be the contractor’s responsibility to clean up. 
Vice Chairman Smith said that is good. It is just a concern for me because I see it a lot. I am not 
saying that some one is not doing their job.  I hate to see silt going down the road. That road. Farm 
road. Ms. Shirley said well usually those things are very heavily regulated. They would get fines 
if they were not. Hopefully, someone will come out and check on that, and get it fixed soon.  
 



Chairman Raines asked if anyone had any further questions. There were none.  
 
Chairman Raines asked if any member of the public wished to speak in favor of this request. There 
were none.  
 
Chairman Raines said I have a list of ten or twelve people or so that are all opposed to it. I’m going 
to exercise the authority to not let everyone speak because we will be here all night typically 
hearing the same thing, so. I’m going to give you fifteen minutes and appointment five speakers 
and I am going to give you three minutes each to present your issues and everything. If you could 
get a spokesperson.  
 
A member of the audience spoke up and said you just gave her twenty-five minutes to thirty and 
we can’t all speak.  You are not going to let us all speak. Chairman Raines said as far as I am 
concerned, that was input of what is going on. She was just presenting the case. This is public 
comment. I am allowing public comment. My bylaws allow me to restrict it in a case like this and 
that is what I intend to do. That is almost one speaker for every two that applied.  
 
Off record – giving citizens time to gather speakers for fifteen minutes.  
 
Chairman Raines asked for the first speaker to step to the podium and state your name and address 
for the record. 
 
Jeff Harris of 4354 Simpson Road, Edgemoor stepped to the podium. My wife and I own Puddle 
Moon Farm. Our farm is directly across Fishing Creek from the proposed development. We 
understand Chester County is growing. That is a good thing provided the growth is fair, just and 
equitable for all stakeholders concerned. We want to ensure the community retains the beauty and 
quality of life that has made it attractive to so many of us. We strongly oppose the rezoning of the 
development for three good reasons. Number one, Chester County is already addressing the need 
for more affordable housing. We all know that. There are 225 apartments at LGI and Lando is 
going to do another 305. So, that is already being taken care of. Services for wastewater treatment, 
police, fire and emergency medical service, water and schools would be mitigated. These two 
developments alone will mean an additional 1,000 to 1,200 vehicles congesting our road. This 
project once built out would add 5,500 estimated more vehicles. According to Mr. Phillip 
Thompson King, the director of Chester’s Wastewater Recovery on Fishing Creek, he had not 
heard of the 2,000 homes fourteen days ago. This was new. Mr. King told me that if this 
development is built out, it will use up all the capacity he has. He also told me they have expanded 
for the last twenty years three times and has no more capacity for expansion. He said he is 
landlocked. So, this would take up all the sewage capacity available on that line. The zoning 
ordinance code 4-131 requires a descriptive statement. That descriptive statement has thirteen 
requirements. Number eleven says the design standards, procedures and methods demonstrating 
that this development result in an integrated use district, functional and compatible with the area. 
We do not believe this project is compatible with our community. Maybe her vision. It is our 
nightmare. In light of these specific issues, the need for further discussion and study, we 
respectfully request this property not be rezoned at this time until each item is carefully considered 
in a mutually agreeable path forward can be determined. Thank you. 
 



Robert Dodson of 3631 Ernandez Road stepped to the podium. My family’s property is about 500 
feet removed from one corner of the proposed development at the intersection of Ernandez and 
901. I grew up in four homes all within two miles of this proposed development. The area in 
question, I grew up on Wyllie’s Mill, on Highway 9. 901, and on Ernandez Road. I am a deacon 
at Union ARP Church. I am proud to say I have been a member of this community for thirty one 
of my thirty-three years. God willing, I would like to be a part of this community for the next fifty. 
I am standing in opposition to this rezoning request. I think others are going to cover some other 
points on negative impacts, traffic environment and what not. I would like to talk a bit about an 
agreement with the community. This commission unanimously recommended, and the Chester 
County Council approved in 2017 the Gateway District Master Plan. It is not gospel.  I have got 
some problems with it. No one gets all that they want. But it is a compromise and agreement with 
the community for how this area should be developed, how it should grow. Both plots in question 
for this proposed development are largely designated as rural living. There is a small top corner, 
the top North corner of that is designated as mixed use. But almost all of this is shown as rural 
living. No reasonable person would count this as rural living. The tightest any rural living allows 
is one-acre minimum lot size. Even if this space were all mixed use, this proposal does not match 
the intent of mixed use in the Master Plan. It is just high density residential. Mixed use is supposed 
to have some commercial, retail spaces blended together into a plan. This is just packing people in 
as high density residential. And even then, if this were all designated as mixed use, and that was 
met, it does not as Jeff mentioned, match and blend in with surrounding rural areas. That is 
something that is also brought up in the Gateway Master Plan as one of the design standards and 
requirements for mixed use developments.  Its that they are supposed to blend into the surrounding 
communities. A tree hedge around the edge of a property does not count as blending in with the 
farmland around us. Approval of this rezoning and development would be a breach of an 
agreement, and a breach of trust with the community as expressed in the Gateway Master Plan on 
several points. I please request the planning commission reject this proposal on the strongest 
possible terms to county council with recommendations to hold off on further development outside 
of the master plan unless there is an additional detailed investigation that happens over months 
with all sorts of community stake holders come up with this plan. Thank you.   
 
Chase Catledge of 1047 Four Boys Alley stepped to the podium. I am a pastor of Trinity Baptist 
Church in Great Falls. I live off Ernandez Road where the development is planning on being. I am 
opposed to it. I want y’all to understand, I am not opposed to growth. I think a lot of us are not 
opposed to growth. For me as a pastor, growth is a good thing because I can reach people with the 
gospel and that is the goal. For two reasons that I am opposed to this is one, the schools. Right 
now, our schools are overcrowded. My son goes to the middle school in Lewisville, and they have 
some of the elementary school kids there. Fifth graders, because it is so overcrowded. Another 
reason is safety. I believe it is a big safety issue. I know as a parent to a middle schooler, when we 
go to pick up our kids, the line is so long we are out in the main road. The reason for that you 
know, it goes back again to overcrowding of the schools. What the school has done to adjust that, 
is they allowed the younger kids from the elementary schools to dismiss early. Because it is a huge 
safety issue there. Also, when you look at Ernandez Road, there is no way that it is able to hold 
the traffic that is coming. There is absolutely no way. There was a Fire Fighter that was going to 
speak that is not able to tonight. He was going to, I am sure, stress the importance in how this is 
going to affect them, volunteers. So that is a safety concern. I talk to a lot of old timers and they 
told me years ago before my time there was Lando Landfill that is near where the development is, 



if not right on it. It is close, but it goes way back in there and y’all may be familiar with this. They 
dumped everything back there.  Batteries, transformers, oil, cars. It was massive. Talking to several 
of the folks, they only thing that they know has been removed from there was a couple 
transformers. Everything else is still there. So, I am not sure how that would be a safe thing to 
build around. For those two reasons is the reasons I am opposed to this. The schools and safety.  
So, I just do not think it is a wise decision. I hope y’all would use some wisdom on this and make 
the right decisions. I would recommend moving it somewhere else at a later date when we are able 
to support this kind of growth. Thank y’all.  
 
Joss Moss of 3559 Ernandez road stepped to the podium. My family, we own the property directly 
to the east side of the project. We have three houses on about 230 acres. My wife and I live in one, 
my brother and his family in one and my Mom in the third. It is a cattle and hay farm. So, I want 
to say my family and I are not in favor of this proposal. Little background, before moving to 
Richburg about eleven or twelve years ago we lived in Mecklenburg County in Steel Creek near 
Carowinds on the old family farm there. My family had been there for about 150 years. When we 
got married back in 1989, we fully expected to stay there, forever. Soon though, development 
started coming into the community. Ironically, it was development very similar to what we see 
proposed here tonight. Apartments, townhomes, houses on very small lots. Very dense 
subdivisions. From there it did not take long to see where the community was heading. What had 
once been a very pleasant suburban rural community, a whole lot like Richburg is now, was turning 
into an environment that we did not want to raise our children in. Our house was broken into a 
couple times. Cars vandalized. Traffic became overwhelming, so we eventually made a difficult 
decision to leave. In that relocation process, we looked at property all over. We looked at Chester 
county, Lancaster, Union, York. Even down at Fairfield county. Finally, we found what we were 
looking for in Richburg. Now it is true that Winchester would be a substantial financial investment 
in Chester county. But I think there are investments to have value other than financial. When we 
decided to make Richburg home, we were also making a big investment. As with a lot of other 
people you see here tonight have done the same thing. We have made investments of time, family, 
community, stewardship of the land, our mental quality lifestyle on and on. I believe that intangible 
investments like these add a lot of value to Chester county as well. These are the kind of 
investments that create the environment that make people want to be a part of it, not just pass 
through it. So, I hope you all do not overlook that type of value tonight. So, I understand like some 
other folks have said, I understand that growth is coming. And I will even agree that growth can 
be beneficial. But I urge you to consider the quality of the development. The decision you make 
here tonight could set the time for Richburg, Lando, Edgemoor for the next twenty, thirty years. 
Think about not just the immediate impact, but what this area will be like in the future. Make the 
decision tonight that you will be proud of when you drive down 901 twenty years from now will 
you be able to say that you are proud to have had an influence of what you see down there. To 
summarize, I believe the proposed is too dense. To much. To quick. If you want to see how this 
type of development plays out, I will be glad to take you on a tour of Steel Creek where we use to 
live. Or you can go up on 160 and drive down that about 4:30 one afternoon at Fort Mill. So, I am 
an engineer by profession, I did not have time to talk about other serious concerns I have about 
infrastructure, environmental impact, and the failure of the project to adhere to the Gateway Master 
Plan. I think other folks have spoke to that. But I do appreciate your time and attention. Thank 
you.  



Barry Dodson of 3631 Ernandez Road stepped to the podium. We love Ernandez Road. It was 
always a dream of my wife to have a farm out there, where we go from rental homes. We are a 
diverse community. We have a family farm. I actually bought my piece of land from John Reid 
who has the limited commercial track up on 901. The deer population on our track is huge. It is 
being driven to us by Lennar and the development down toward Highway 9. Those sights have 
been around for two years, and not the first two by four has been erected. You have a lot of homes 
there that are planned but nothing has been done. Yes, we have COVID. We have had rain. People 
are building all over the county but not there. Is there demand? We have been hearing about it for 
twenty years. One of the Graham brothers bought that land on 901 South. Was going to be another 
Sun City. It is a waste land. Let’s let Lennar build out. And let the development on 901 build out 
and see if the demand is actually there. There is not a demand for 2,500 homes on Ernandez Road. 
And besides that, Ernandez Road is dangerous. You come out on 901 from Ernandez there is a 
five second blind spot there. You cannot get out. They are not going to put a traffic signal there. 
There is not one at Highway 9 and 901. Try to exit on 223, it is a logging road. Blind curves both 
directions. And the logging trucks, Adeline Shephard, a member of our church got killed by a 
logging truck and she is Shepherd Will. The traffic is horrendous. It can not be fixed with this plan. 
So, what do you want to do? Let me send 2,000 cars by your house every morning at 7:00. They 
are going to be coming down Ernandez Road. And trying to get to Lewisville schools on 223. This 
is a nightmare, and it is going to end up killing a kid. So, what can I say? We love this area. We 
have invested thirty years of our life in our little family farm. We are so happy to have the Moss’. 
We are so happy to be around the Reids’. We are happy to go by and see David Love and his 
extended family.  These are not rich people. We are not rich people. But we can not handle 2,500 
homes on Ernandez Road. It is just now getting improved after twenty years of begging and that 
has not started yet either. Guys, I have been engineering the Carolinas, registered, for forty years. 
I know Bailey Patrick. I know Jim Mierfield. I have had dealings with them. This sounds great. 
But it is not the right place. It is not the right time. Please take your time. Please do not approve 
this. It is horrendous. Look at it. It is horrendous. Thank you. 
 
Chairman Raines said that closes the public comment portion of the meeting. We have heard a lot 
of passion on the con side. I think we had a good presentation of what the overall plan is and the 
timeframe and everything. He asked if anyone had any comments or a motion.  
 
Commissioner Grant had a question for staff. What was the last development that we approved 
that County Council turned down? Director Levister said the last PD that got turned down was the 
development behind Victorian Hills. But now it is a special exception for a cluster development.  
 
Chairman Raines said the portions that is already Limited Commercial, they can build on it as it 
is, correct? Director Levister said Tax Map number 123-00-00-052-00 is already current zoning of 
Limited Commercial and it will allow residential living on that zoning. Chairman Raines asked 
including their plans? Director Levister said I would have to check and make sure everything that 
is in that plan meets that requirements. Chairman Raines said pending approval of the plat. Director 
Levister said correct.  Chairman Raines said I just wanted to make that clear that part of it already 
meets the requirements.  
 



Commissioner Howell said the way I understand it, the part that meets it is the apartments and the 
townhomes. Correct? Chairman Raines said yes. Commissioner Howell said so basically once you 
meet the obligations that the county set before you could build.  
 
Vice Chairman Smith said one of the comments mentioned, Highway 160 in Fort Mill, Indian 
Land and I am trying to think long term development. When you look at somewhere like Indian 
Land, SC where you go further north to Indian Trial NC, there is a lot of developments and plan 
developments of this size and this density. Yeah, they bring short term revenue to the county, 
which we need. And we do need homes. But the long-term negative side effects that do not add 
physical value. And also, they do have physical value, but when it comes to things down the road 
the county is going to have to deal with. The state is going to have to deal with it. There is a price 
tag involved with that too.  
 
Chairman Raines said I agree it is a lot bigger than you would maybe want to see. But you know, 
in my opinion, I do not think the government entities and Highway Department and all of those 
people are going to go and build enough sewer capacity to take care of something like that. They 
are not going to four lane the road in anticipation of that happening. Then there are always schools. 
They are always behind the curve. We can’t even agree to replace a sixty-year-old school. Money 
has got to be spent at some point.  Impact fees, I do not know what will happen with that discussion, 
you know as a method of paying for some of this.  It could fill some of that gap. But overall, it is 
just a huge growing pain because you are taking an area and converting it into something that it 
has never been set up to be. Yes, it is going to look much like the areas you talked about, Indian 
Trail, Indian Land, if that happens but you know it is by and large, not in my yard, but the people 
most effective are the people most in that area. The rest of Chester County could get a good bit out 
of this, potentially. At some point you have to do some things like this if you are going to have 
places to eat and movie theaters and things of that nature. If people are not here, you do not get the 
rest of it.  So, in my mind, the light of it is at what point does Chester County stop prohibiting stuff 
like this and start down that road of growing. And by and large the question here is how much is 
too big to start with. Otherwise, if you are going to grow any, you have got to start down this road. 
You got to take the first step.  
 
Vice Chairman Smith said I agree with some of what you said but for example in Fort Mill off of 
160, all that growth and development, the long term after effect. If you look at the school service. 
They are in the red big time. The county is paying for that. I mean, everyone is paying for it. 
Chairman Raines said we have the statistics from some of our training sessions that your money 
comes from industry and things of that nature, and houses. But you have got to have people. It is 
a double edge sword.  
 
Commissioner Howell said the impact that this will cause on the road there, 901 right now is in 
bad shape and needs to be reworked. I drive it. To handle the magnitude of the vehicles that are 
going to come out of here going to the interstate or going north toward Rock Hill, the bridge is 
basically a white line to white line bridge up to Fishing Creek, you have a major traffic impact that 
this would cause even at half the density. Chairman Raines said keep in mind you are talking a 
longer term build out. Commissioner Howell said this is true and we already have two 
developments on 901 that have potential for being this big or bigger than this.  
 



Commissioner Walley said if you go back and count the Lando purposed originally years ago for 
it, that would be three developments. Commissioner Howell said correct. Commissioner Walley 
then said and then if you count the apartments that are supposed to be on Edgeland Road in the old 
Ms. Jennings house, there are supposed to be apartments there. That would be four developments 
off of 901 already before this one. Commissioner Howell said and the houses behind the Gateway. 
Commissioner Walley said that is not counting Highway 9 development. Cherry Hills, or any of 
those others. Vice Chairman Smith said they are out there building all over the county, without the 
rezoning from R2. Houses are springing up. Commissioner Howell said there have been nine built 
above my house in the past year.  
 
Commissioner Grant said I have one question for Winchester. Have y’all done any developments 
anywhere else close by? Ms. Shirley said I have a list actually. We have done developments all 
through Lancaster, York, Union County, so all surrounding. Some of our existing communities 
that we gave as examples actually for people to go see. We have got Prestwick in Fort Mill. 
Pikeview which is also in Fort Mill. Edgewater which is in Lancaster. Austen Lakes in York. 
Roddey Park in Rock Hill. And then over in Monroe we have got Creeks Landing, Greenbrier. 
Wyntree in Midland. Huntley Glen in Pineville. And Stonebridge in Mineral Springs.  
 
Chairman Raines ask what is the minimum density you can economically stand? Ms. Shirley said 
it is really an economy of scale. The more homes, especially in terms of what offsite improvements 
get built and added on to. When you think about the smaller communities, they do not have as 
much as a financial impact on things like roadway improvements. But with a development of this 
size, we would actually be required to provide off site roadway improvements. So, improving 
Edgeland Road, improving Ernandez Road those would be our responsibility to take care of. 
Chairman Raines said your responsibility, not the state. Ms. Shirley said correct. Chairman Raines 
asked at what point?  Ms. Shirley said the traffic impact analysis is a report that gets generated. 
SCDOT who owns the roads, they take a look at both of the roads and the intersection and they 
said you are going to impact it to this certain point so you will need to improve the roads. Providing 
left and right turn lanes, which will automatically come with an overlay or rebuild of the road. So, 
there are improvements that, when you have a larger development, they can absorb those cost, and 
they can actually put more revenue back into the community. Chairman Raines said so you would 
actually widen the road all the way to Number 9? Ms. Shirley said if SCDOT comes back and said 
this is what you need to do, we would be required to do it as part of the development. Chairman 
Raines ask even five years after the fact? Ms. Shirley said yes, most of the time those 
improvements have to be bonded. And they have to be done before a certain number of building 
permits are issued for the site.  
 
Chairman Raines then asked what is the density comparatively speaking to the other properties 
you compare? Ms. Shirley said they are pretty comparable. Most single-family developments these 
days are about four units to the acre. I’ll come prepared to the board to address what the single-
family density is verses the apartments and townhomes.  Chairman Raines said that makes a 
difference. Ms. Shirley said townhomes and multi family are always going to be higher than single 
family just for virtue of more units to the acre.  
 



Chairman Raines asked if anyone had any further questions or comments. We need a motion to 
work from. Commissioner Grant make a motion to approve the rezoning request as presented; 
seconded by Commissioner Hill.  
 
Chairman Raines asked staff when we come back and do a preliminary plat, we can limit that 
density? Director Levister said you can make the changes when it is presented to y’all. That’s what 
they are presenting to the county for the planned development then the Planning Commission can 
ask to make the changes and then they will have to make the changes and represent it. Chairman 
Raines ask then at that point we could meet the minimum requirements of the zoning classification 
or choose to go denser. Director Levister said whatever the Planning Commission’s 
recommendation is to the applicant.  
 
Commissioner Howell said so if it was approved, and got back to us again, we could limit them to 
two houses per acre? Director Levister said that is y’all’s decision as a board. The only thing we 
are doing tonight is approving the rezoning. And then they have to present the county with a sketch 
plan to make sure all the requirements are on there and then they will have to pay to come to the 
board again to the Planning Commission to present their preliminary plat of the development. At 
that time, y’all can make whatever changes you want to recommend.  
 
Vice Chairman Smith had one last comment, I know she mentioned some other communities we 
could visit that were similar and if you look at all those areas, they all have one thing in common. 
A lot of people would say that they were not planned well. It is not just them. There are a bunch 
of big developments on top of each other that have got negative long-term effects. Commissioner 
Howell said I will say that I have been in these developments. I have worked in them in my job. I 
will be honest with you, sometimes my truck and trailer were longer than the lot was wide. And 
sometimes it was longer than it was deep. Chairman Raines said from a density standpoint it is 
tight. Commissioner Howell then said there was a comment here about highway 160. If you ever 
go to Lowes over there, it takes you four and five lights to get out at the most. That is in the middle 
of the day. It is terrible in the afternoon. Nonpeak traffic time. Commissioner Walley said and that 
is a four-lane highway.  
Commissioner Howell said I understand that we need houses. I don’t know if we need this many 
at this time, in my opinion. Chairman Raines said the apartment portion of it potentially really 
increases your density, in that required as far as having enough or a whole lot more people in a 
whole lot smaller area. Even if you busted it up and made the houses on a lot bigger parcel. 
Commissioner Howell said you are looking at, just figure on 2,400 times three for kids going to 
school. Commissioner Walley said and that is not counting the other developments. Chairman 
Raines said the other developments already in the area. Commissioner Walley said on the same 
highway. Edgeland Road.  Mountain Gap Road whatever you want to call it. Commissioner 
Howell said I mean it is going to be a burden for the county and the taxpayers to keep the support 
of the facilities they have. The elementary school is overcrowded. The junior high is overcrowded. 
The high school is overcrowded. And they are not even considering rebuilding at this time. 
Commissioner Walley then said one thing we have not touched on is the landfill. Is our county 
going to be able to hold all this building at the landfill? All the trash that will be coming from all 
these four housing developments being done on one highway. That is a lot. Chairman Raines said 
obviously the answer to that is we need good planning at the county level to foresee that kind of 
stuff and plan things, have things in place so that it can become a better situation to match growth 



as it goes along because you are never going to get ahead of the curve. You are not going to start 
ahead of the curve.  
 
Commissioner Grant said I will say one thing. If it is approved, it is going to force the county to 
do something. Chairman Raines said yes. Commissioner Grant said they will have to do something. 
They talk about these impact fees and ain’t done nothing yet that I know of.  
 
Vice Chairman Smith said we have great examples of what not to do right beside us. I think there 
is a way we can all win in this situation. We can provide the houses, which the county really needs. 
We can provide the revenue for the county, the developer, the landowner. We do not have to be 
like Indian Land and Indian Trial. Chester can do something different and still win. Chairman 
Raines said to a certain extent. You are never going to go back to the days when houses were built 
here in the 60’s and 70’s and it was a fifty-neighborhood housing development on three acres of 
land. Everything is too pricy for that. The economy of scale is…. you are never going to get that. 
Other than very small, limited quantities. So, then you are reduced to buying an acre of property, 
or three acres here or there and building a house. Getting it rezoned. Having enough property to 
build a house in R2 restrictions. The question to me is can you start this big or do you need to come 
somewhere in the middle. Obviously, you have got to go somewhere to start down that road. This 
is pretty large for the first step. If we approve this, then when it comes back, we could say no. not 
six houses per acre. We could say two. If you thought that was more reasonable then you have a 
decision tonight to make to approve it and go down that road.  
 
Commissioner Howell said there are some wetlands on the property here. Does that include that 
in the average, and you would still have dense housing is that correct? You have what, about 100 
acres of wet land? Ms. Shirley said yes, how density is calculated is by the gross property acreage 
by the number of homes. So, yes. Chairman Raines said overall number of acres not usable acres, 
buildable acres. Ms. Shirley said yes because you start getting into very subjective definitions of 
what… that is called net density. And that is usually used to determine how much open space is 
then provided as part of that. So, usually what happens is the traditional way the density is 
calculated is with a gross acreage and then you provide open space commitments as part of that. 
Commissioner Howell said even though we would limit the number of houses per acre to say two, 
if you got one hundred acres it is unbuildable. How much does that put on the other two hundred 
acres that are buildable. That is the question that I cannot answer.  
 
Vice Chairman Smith said are you asking about the density of the actual buildable minus the 
wetlands and places you can not build? Commissioner Howell said yes, we do not have that 
answer.  
 
Commissioner Grant said call for the question Mr. Chairman. We are beating a dead horse to death 
here.  
 
Chairman Raines said we have a motion on the table to approve the rezoning as it has been 
presented. We also have a second. No further discussion. Vote was 3-4 to approve. Motion fails. 
(Chairman Raines, Commissioner Grant and Commissioner Hill approved. Vice Chairman Smith, 
Commissioner Walley, Commissioner Williams and Commissioner Howell opposed)  
  



To: Chester County Council 

From: Chester Land Holdings LLC 

Date: May 12, 2021 

 

RE: Winchester neighborhood commitments and concessions 

 

As part of the rezoning application, the development team commits to: 

• Building a high-quality residential community to include 1,150 single-family detached dwellings and 

their associated accessory uses. 

Minimum lot size: 2,700 SF 

Minimum lot width: 30' 

Minimum yards 

Front: 20' 

Side: 5' 

Rear: 20' 

Maximum structure height: 35 feet when permitted by fire regulations 

Accessory structures shall be consistent with the principal building in material, texture, and 

color 

• Providing access locations to the site subject to review and approval by SCDOT and/or Chester 

County. 

• Providing internal public streets designed, constructed and maintained to SCDOT standards. Public 

streets will be owned by SCDOT. 

• Providing a Traffic Impact Analysis prior to site plan approval. Requirements placed on the site by 

SCDOT and County review will be incorporated as necessary. 

• Meeting parking requirements as per Chester County's Zoning Ordinance Chapter 5, Art. IV Parking 

• Complying with applicable local and State standards for environmental impacts, avoidance and/or 

buffering. All local and state regulations regarding erosion and sediment control and stormwater 

management will be designed and incorporated into the site plan at time of site plan submittal.  

• Depicting a conceptual landscaping plan showing proposed landscaping, perimeter buffering and/or 

existing tree cover. All local regulations regarding required landscaping will be followed. 

• Providing amenities, amenity areas and open spaces as conceptually shown on the Conceptual 

Rezoning Plan that will be owned and maintained by an HOA. Amenities may include but are not 

limited to: Clubhouse and pool, pocket parks throughout the neighborhood, seating areas, 

landscaped areas, playgrounds, open multi-purpose lawn spaces, dog park, trails.  

• Screening as shown conceptually on the rezoning plan to meet the standards as set forth in Chester 

County's Zoning Ordinance Chapter 5, Art. III Landscaping 

• Providing signs to meet the standards set forth in Chester County's Zoning Ordinance Chapter 5, Art. 

V Signs 

• Providing the architectural character associated with the building(s) to be located on the site as 

generally depicted in the Vision Book are included to reflect the architectural style and quality of the 

building(s) that will be constructed.  



• Committing to acceptable facade materials may be: masonry materials such as brick, hard stucco, 

stone or tile materials. Cementitious (panel, siding, trim & battens), (e.i.f.s), and vinyl. New materials 

to the market proposed for exterior use are acceptable pending compliance with the architectural 

character. 

• Phasing the development of the neighborhood. 

• Dedicating 2± acres of land along Edgeland Road, location to be coordinated with County personnel 

for use by Fire, EMS and Sheriff departments. 

• Committing to Street widths will be sufficient to allow fire apparatus to travel with on street 

parking. 

• Providing hydrants will be provided within 500 feet of any structure and no more than 800 feet 

apart. 

• Providing hydrants will be provided with Stortz connections. 

• Providing minimum side setbacks are 5-feet, Developer will ensure 1500 GPM flow is provided for 

the water system serving the property. System will be improved as necessary to ensure the required 

flow. This requirement could be reduced if spacing between homes is greater. 

 

In response to City Council requests, we have specifically:  

• Reduced Single family homes from 1,500 to 1,150 

• Increased side yard setbacks 

• Committed to Fire department request for 2+/- acres of land along Edgeland Road 

• Committed to design/updgrade the water system servicing the neighborhood to meet the 

1,500 gallons per minute water flow to site requirement 

• Met other Fire department requests to provide hydrants and desired internal street widths. 

• Worked with Chester County Wastewater Recovery to secure sewer capacity assurance in 

approved unit increments 

 

We are currently reaching out to Council to address any further requests, questions and concerns to 

meet Chester County’s needs.  



GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

EDGELAND RD

ED
G

EL
AN

D 
RD

GASTON RD

LA
ND

O
 R

D

ERNANDEZ RD

SCM

SCM

SCM

SCM

SCM

SCM

ROAD "A"

ROAD "A"

ROAD "B"

ROAD "B
"

ROAD "C
" RO

AD
 "D

"

ROAD "E"

ROAD "E"

ROAD "F"

ROAD "G"

ROAD "H
"

ROAD "I
"

ROAD "I"

ROAD "J"

ROAD "K"

RO
AD

 "K
"

RO
AD

 "L
"

ROAD "M"

RO
AD

 "M
"

ROAD "N"

ROAD "O"

R
O

AD
 "P"

ROAD "Q
"

ROAD "Q"

ROAD "R"

R
O

AD
 "G

"

ROAD "S"

R
O

AD
 "T

"

R
O

AD
 "U

"

ROAD "V"

ROAD "BB"

ROAD "CC"

ROAD "EE"

RO
AD "DD"

ROAD "FF"

N

LOCATION MAP                                                                        SCALE: 1" = 3,000'

SITE

Conceptual Rezoning Plan Winchester
Chester County, South Carolina

May 12, 2021

Page 1 of 1

Note: Conceptual Plans Only, lot yield and layout subject to change based on final design and approvals.8008 Corporate Center Dr, Suite 110 | Charlotte, NC 28226 | 704.375.2438

EDGELAND RD

ED
G

EL
AN

D 
RD

ERNANDEZ RD

GASTO
N R

D

LA
ND

O
 R

D

IN
TER

STATE 77

IN
TER

STATE 77

LANCASTER HWY

GASTON FARM RD

A. General Provisions
A.1. These development standards form a part of the Conceptual Rezoning Plan associated with the rezoning petition filed by

Chester Land Holdings LLC to accommodate the development of a residential community on an approximately 328.9 +/- acre
site located on the east side of Edgeland Road, north of its intersection with Ernandez Road, as shown on the Conceptual
Rezoning Plan. The Conceptual Rezoning Plan is comprised of Tax Parcel Nos: 123-00-00-032-000 and 123-00-00-078-000.

A.2. The development of the site will be governed by the Conceptual Rezoning Plan, these development standards and the
applicable provisions of the Chester County Zoning Ordinance and Chester County Land Development Regulations.

A.3. The development as depicted on the Conceptual Rezoning Plan is schematic in nature and intended to depict the general
arrangement of uses and improvements on the site. Exact locations of internal roads, lots, building, stormwater measures,
amenity locations, etc. will be determined at time of site plan submittal.

A.4. Topographic contours and streams shown were obtained from USGS Edgemoor and Catawba Quadrangle maps.
A.5. Base information was obtained from Chester County GIS.
A.6. Floodplain information was obtained from FEMA FIRM Map Nos: 45023C0113C and 45023C0094C

B. Permitted Uses and Lot Information
B.1. The site will be developed as a residential community to include single-family detached dwellings and their associated

accessory uses.

C. Lot Standards:

Single Family Detached: 1,150 *
Minimum lot size: 2,700 SF
Minimum lot width: 30'
Minimum yards

Front: 20'
Side: 5'
Rear: 20'

*Amount shown is approximate. Actual number of units to be determined at time of site plan submittal.

D. Transportation and Site Circulation
D.1. The placement and configuration of the vehicular accesses to the site will be as generally depicted on the Conceptual Rezoning

Plan subject to modifications required for approval by SCDOT and/or Chester County.
D.2. The site will be served by internal public streets and may also be served by internal private drives and/or alleys. Adjustments to

the locations of the internal public streets and the internal private drives and/or alleys that respond to actual site and
environmental conditions will be allowed during the site plan process.

D.3. Public streets will be designed and constructed to SCDOT standards. Public streets will be owned and maintained by SCDOT.
D.4. A Traffic Impact Analysis is required by Chester County prior to site plan approval. Requirements placed on the site by SCDOT

and County review will be incorporated as necessary into the site plan at time of site plan submittal.
D.5. Off-street parking and loading requirements will meet the standards set forth in Chester County's Zoning Ordinance Chapter 5,

Art. IV Parking

E. Environmental
E.1. The site will comply with applicable local and State standards for environmental impacts, avoidance and/or buffering.
E.2. All local and state regulations regarding erosion and sediment control and stormwater management will be observed and

incorporated into the site plan at time of site plan submittal. Exact location and sizing of stormwater mitigation measures will be
determined at time of site plan submittal.

F. Landscape,  Open Space and Signage
F.1. A conceptual landscaping plan showing proposed landscaping, perimeter buffering and/or existing tree cover is included with

the rezoning package. All local regulations regarding required landscaping will be observed and incorporated at time of site plan
submittal.

F.2. Amenities, amenity areas and open spaces as conceptually shown on the Conceptual Rezoning Plan would be owned and
maintained by an HOA. Amenities may include but are not limited to: Clubhouse and pool, pocket parks throughout the
neighborhood, seating areas, landscaped areas, playgrounds, open multi-purpose lawn spaces, dog park, trails.

F.3. Screening as shown conceptually on the rezoning plan will meet the standards as set forth in Chester County's Zoning
Ordinance Chapter 5, Art. III Landscaping

F.4. Signs will meet the standards set forth in Chester County's Zoning Ordinance Chapter 5, Art. V Signs

G. Architecture
G.1. Where practical, buildings shall be oriented towards the internal street system to reinforce the streetscape.
G.2. Maximum structure height: 35 feet when permitted by fire regulations [not applicable to church spires, belfries, cupolas, domes,

utility and communication towers, chimneys, flag poles, antennae]
G.3. Accessory structures shall be consistent with the principal building in material, texture, and color.
G.4. The architectural character associated with the building(s) to be located on the site as generally depicted in the Vision Book are

included to reflect the architectural style and quality of the building(s) that will be constructed. Actual building(s) to be
constructed and the nature and/or location of the building elements may vary from these illustrations as long as the general
architectural concept and intent shown is maintained and heights of any buildings above heights specified are not increased.

G.5. Acceptable facade materials include but are not limited to the following: masonry materials such as brick, hard stucco, stone or
tile materials. Cementitious (panel, siding, trim & battens), (e.i.f.s), and vinyl. New materials to the market proposed for exterior
use are acceptable pending compliance with the architectural character.

H. Phasing:
H.1. Phasing will be established at time of site plan submittal. It is anticipated this site will have more than one phase. Phases may

overlap as reasonable.

I. Fire:
I.1. Developer will dedicate 2± acres of land along Edgeland Road, location to be coordinated with County personnel for use by

Fire, EMS and Sheriff departments.
I.2. Street widths will be sufficient to allow fire apparatus to travel with on street parking.
I.3. Hydrants will be provided within 500 feet of any structure and no more than 800 feet apart.
I.4. Hydrants will be provided with Stortz connections.
I.5. As minimum side setbacks are 5-feet, Developer will ensure 1500 GPM flow is provided for the water system serving the

property. System will be improved as necessary to ensure the required flow. This requirement could be reduced if spacing
between homes is greater.

Legend:

Open Space

FEMA Floodplain

Single Family Detached

Proposed Fire/EMS/Sheriff
Station
(Location to be coordinated with County
personnel)

Buffers (Environmental, Utility
and Perimeter)

Right-of-Way

Roads

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
900

AutoCAD SHX Text
600

AutoCAD SHX Text
300



 

 

 
 

April 14, 2021 
 
Sara Shirley 
American Engineering 
8008 Corporate Center Drive, Suite 110 
Charlotte, NC 28226 

 
 

[Sent via email] 
 
Reference: Winchester – Chester County, SC 
 
Subject:  Transportation Engineering Services Agreement 
 
Dear Ms. Shirley: 
 
Ramey Kemp & Associates Inc. (RKA) is pleased to provide you with this Transportation Engineering Services 
Agreement for the above referenced project. We understand this development is located east of Edgeland Road, and north 
of J. S. Gaston Road in Chester County, South Carolina. It is our understanding the South Carolina Department of 
Transportation (SCDOT) and/or Chester County (County) will require a Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) for the proposed 
project. The following is our proposed scope of services for the Project. The parties acknowledge that the scope of services 
may change following consultation or coordination with governmental agencies. The parties agree that should the scope 
of services change following any such consultation or coordination, RKA will provide the Client with a revised proposal 
or an addendum to this agreement setting forth any such changes and associated costs to be paid by the Client. 
 
 

I.) SCOPE OF SERVICES: 
  

A.) Traffic Engineering:  
 

a. Coordinate with Client to establish a thorough understanding of the project as well as to obtain all 
available information. 

 
b. Coordinate with SCDOT and/or the County to discuss the project, obtain information, and finalize scope. 

This proposal assumes a maximum of one (1) virtual meeting [conference call or video teleconference] 
may be needed for scoping purposes.  
 

c. This proposal assumes up to eight (8) intersections will be considered for analysis. The study 
intersections included in this proposal consist of: 

1. Lancaster Highway and I-85 Southbound Ramps 
2. Lancaster Highway and I-85 Northbound Ramps 
3. Lancaster Highway and Edgeland Road 
4. Lancaster Highway and Wylies Mill Road 
5. Lancaster Highway and Main Street 
6. Edgeland Road and Westbrook Road 
7. Edgeland Road and Lando Road / Access A 
8. Edgeland Road and Access B 
 



 | 2 
 

  

d. Turning movement counts at intersections 1 through 5 will be completed during the AM and PM peak 
hours (7:00-9:00 AM and 4:00-6:00 PM). A 14-hour turn movement count will be conducted at the 
intersection of Lancaster Highway and Edgeland Road (6:00 AM – 8:00 PM). 

 
e. Utilizing trip generation formulas in the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation 

Manual, 10th Edition, calculate the amount of weekday daily, weekday AM peak hour, and weekday PM 
peak hour traffic to be generated by the proposed development upon full build out.  
 

f. Determine site trip distribution percentages based on surrounding population densities, existing traffic 
patterns, the previously approved Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) for nearby sites, and engineering 
judgment.  Assign site-generated traffic to study intersections utilizing trip distribution percentages.  

 
g. Project existing traffic volumes to the build-out year using a compounded growth rate typically approved 

by SCDOT and/or the County. Combine the background traffic with the site traffic to determine the 
future traffic conditions that can be expected upon build-out of the site. The background traffic will 
include any approved adjacent developments.  This proposal assumes the traffic from any approved 
adjacent development will be provided by the reviewing agencies.  

 
h. Analyze study intersections during the weekday AM and PM peak hours for the following scenarios: 

1. 2021 Existing 
2. Future No-Build (Full Build Year) Traffic 
3. Future Full Build (Full Build Year) Traffic 

 
i. Conduct a signal warrant analysis for the intersection of Lancaster Highway and Edgeland Road. Signal 

Warrants 1, 2, and 3 from the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) will be analyzed. 
 

j. Prepare a Traffic Impact Analysis documenting the study findings with graphical aides and an appendix 
of supporting data. Provide a draft copy to the Client for review. Upon approval, submit necessary copies 
of the report to SCDOT (if required) and local reviewing agencies for their review and comments. 
 

k. Coordinate with the Client to ensure an understanding of the study and answer questions via  
virtual meeting [conference call or video teleconference].  
 

l. Coordinate with SCDOT (if required) and local reviewing agencies (via telephone or written 
correspondence) to ensure an understanding of the study and answer questions. It is difficult to estimate 
the extent of comments to be provided by SCDOT and/or the local review agency regarding the review. 
Should revised analyses or any other additional effort beyond written clarifications be required to 
address comments or provide additional information to the agencies, a supplemental proposal will be 
provided. 

 
m. Any meetings requested by the Client for RKA to attend will be billed on an hourly + expenses basis. 

 



 | 3 
 

  

B.) Additional Services: 
Additional (extra) services are defined as any work item not included in the above scope of services that are 
requested by the client or review agencies. Additional services will be billable at the RKA billing rates that are 
current at the time the extra work is identified. Any meetings not included in the scope of services will be 
considered extra. Extra work will be identified either in writing or by verbal communication, if requested by the 
client, but must be approved in writing by client before proceeding to perform such additional services. 
 
Additional services RKA provides includes, but is not limited to, the following areas: 

• Driveway permits and encroachment agreements 

• Roadway design 
o Intersection Improvement Design 
o Highway and Interchange Design 
o Roundabout Design 
o Sidewalk Design  
o Cost estimations 

• Traffic signal design and timing plans 

• Signing and pavement marking plans 

• Hydraulic Design 
 
II.) SUMMARY OF FEES: 
RKA will provide the above noted services based on the following fee(s). 

Service(s) Lump Sum or Hourly+Expenses FEE 

A.) Traffic Engineering Lump Sum $15,000.00 

 
a.) Fee is valid for 30 days from the date of this agreement. 
b.) RKA’s hourly rates/expenses are subject to change and RKA reserves the right to make modifications.  
c.) A schedule of Hourly Rate and Reimbursable Expenses can be provided upon request.  
 

III.) DEPOSIT: 
Client will be required to pay to RKA up to fifty percent (50%) of the fee identified in the proposal before RKA commences 
any services or work pursuant to this Agreement. RKA will submit invoices to client as provided herein as the services are 
performed. RKA will hold the client’s deposit and credit the amount of the deposit against RKA’s final invoice(s) for RKA’s 
services. 
 
IV.) GENERAL CONDITIONS: 
RKA General Conditions (Attachment 1) are incorporated herein by reference (see attached). The undersigned client 
represents and acknowledges that they have been provided with a copy of the General Conditions and have read and 
fully understand the General Conditions. 
 
V.) PROJECT/CLIENT INFORMATION SHEET: 
RKA Project/Client Information Sheet (Attachment 2) is incorporated herein by reference (see attached). A completed 
Project/Client Information Sheet must be returned with signed agreement. 



 | 4 
 

  

VI.) ACCEPTANCE: 
The undersigned represents and warrants that (1) he or she is duly authorized and has legal capacity to execute/deliver 
this Agreement, (2) the execution/delivery of this Agreement and the performance of the Client’s obligations hereunder 
have been duly authorized, (3) and the Agreement is a valid/legal agreement binding on the Client and enforceable in 
accordance with its terms. 
 
Accepted this _________ day of ___________________________ (month), _________ (year) 
 
 
Client Name:______________________________________ 
   (Print) 
 
By: _____________________________________________ Title: ____________________________ 
  (Sign) (Print) 
 
 
We very much appreciate you contacting us and look forward to assisting you with this project. 
 
Sincerely, 
Ramey Kemp & Associates, Inc. 

 
J. Andrew Eagle, PE, PTOE 
Senior Traffic Engineering Project Manager 
 
 
Attachments: 1- RKA General Conditions  
  2- RKA Project/Client Information Sheet 
  3- RKA Deposit Invoice 
 



 | 5 
 

  

 
ATTACHMENT - 1 

Ramey Kemp & Associates General Conditions  
(As of January 1, 2016) 

1.01 Payment Procedures 
A. Invoices: Invoices are due and payable upon receipt. If Client fails to make any payment due Engineer for Services, 

extra work, or expenses within 30 days after receipt of Engineer’s invoice, then (1) the amounts due Engineer will be 
increased at the rate of 1.5% per month (or the maximum rate of interest permitted by law, if less) from said thirtieth 
day, and (2) in addition Engineer may, after giving three days written notice to Client, suspend Services under this 
Agreement until Engineer has been paid in full all amounts due for Services, extra work, expenses, and other related 
charges. Client waives any and all claims against Engineer for any such suspension. 

B. Payment: As compensation for Engineer providing or furnishing Services and extra work, Client shall pay Engineer 
as set forth herein. If Client disputes an invoice, either as to amount or entitlement, then Client shall promptly advise 
Engineer in writing of the specific basis for doing so, may withhold only that portion so disputed, and must pay the 
undisputed portion. 
 

2.01 Termination 
A. The obligation to continue performance under this Agreement may be terminated for cause: 

1. By either party upon 14 days written notice in the event of substantial failure by the other party to perform in 
accordance with the Agreement’s terms through no fault of the terminating party. Failure to pay Engineer for its 
Services shall constitute a substantial failure to perform and a basis for termination. 

2. By Engineer: 

a. upon seven days written notice if Client demands that Engineer furnish or perform services contrary to 
Engineer’s responsibilities as a licensed professional; or  

b. upon seven days written notice if the Engineer’s Services are delayed for more than 30 days for reasons 
beyond Engineer’s control. 

B. Engineer shall have no liability to Client on account of a termination for cause by Engineer.  
C. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Agreement will not terminate as a result of a substantial failure under 

Paragraph 2.01.A.1 if the party receiving such notice begins, within three days of receipt of such notice, to correct its 
substantial failure to perform, proceeds diligently to cure such failure, and does cure such failure within no more 
than 14 days of receipt of notice; provided, however, that if and to the extent such substantial failure cannot be 
reasonably cured within such 14-day period, and if such party has diligently attempted to cure the same and 
thereafter continues diligently to cure the same, then the cure period provided for herein shall extend up to, but in 
no case more than, 30 days after the date of receipt of the notice. 

D. The Agreement may be terminated for convenience by Client effective upon Engineer's receipt of written notice 
from Client. 

E. In the event of any termination under Paragraph 2.01.D, Engineer will be entitled to invoice Client and to receive 
full payment for all Services and extra work performed or furnished in accordance with this Agreement, plus 
reimbursement of expenses incurred through the effective date of termination in connection with providing the 
Services and extra work, Engineer’s consultants’ charges, if any, and any other reasonable costs incurred by 
Engineer as a result of such termination. 
 

3.01 General Considerations 
A. Should completion of any portion of the Services by Engineer be delayed, suspended, or impaired, through no fault 

of Engineer, then the time for completion of Engineer’s Services, and the rates and amounts of Engineer’s 
compensation, shall be adjusted equitably. 

B. Engineer shall not be responsible for any decision made regarding the construction contract requirements, or any 
application, interpretation, clarification, or modification of the construction contract documents other than those 
made by Engineer or its consultants. 

C. All documents prepared or furnished by Engineer are instruments of service, and Engineer retains all ownership 
and property interest (including the copyright and the right of reuse) in such documents, whether or not the Project 
is completed. Client shall have a limited license to use the documents on the Project, extensions of the Project, and 



 | 6 
 

  

for related uses of the Client, subject to receipt by Engineer of full payment due and owing for all Services and extra 
work relating to preparation of the documents and subject to the following limitations: 
1. Client acknowledges that such documents are not intended or represented to be suitable for use on the Project 

unless completed by Engineer, or for use or reuse by Client or others on extensions of the Project, on any other 
project, or for any other use or purpose, without written verification or adaptation by Engineer; 

2. any such use or reuse, or any modification of the documents, without written verification, completion, or 
adaptation by Engineer, as appropriate for the specific purpose intended, will be at Client’s sole risk; 

3. Client shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless Engineer and its officers, directors, members, partners, agents, 
employees, and consultants from all claims, damages, losses, and expenses, including attorneys’ fees, arising out 
of or resulting from any use, reuse, or modification of the documents without written verification, completion, 
or adaptation by Engineer; and such limited license to Client shall not create any rights in third parties. 

D. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Client and Engineer waive against each other, and the other’s employees, 
officers, directors, members, agents, insurers, partners, and consultants, any and all claims for or entitlement to 
special, incidental, indirect, or consequential damages arising out of, resulting from, or in any way related to this 
Agreement or the Project. 

E. ENGINEER AND CLIENT AGREE THAT ENGINEER’S (INCLUDING ENGINEER’S OFFICERS, 
DIRECTORS, MEMBERS, PARTNERS, AGENTS, AND EMPLOYEES) TOTAL LIABILITY TO THE CLIENT 
AND TO ANYONE CLAIMING BY, THROUGH, OR UNDER THE CLIENT FOR ANY AND ALL INJURIES, 
CLAIMS, LOSSES, COSTS, DAMAGES, AND EXPENSES ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS 
AGREEMENT OR THE SERVICES PERFORMED HEREUNDER, WHETHER ARISING IN CONTRACT, 
TORT, EQUITY, STRICT LIABILITY, BY STATUTE, OR OTHERWISE, SHALL BE LIMITED TO $25,000.00 OR 
ENGINEER’S TOTAL FEE FOR THE SERVICES PERFORMED HEREUNDER, WHICHEVER IS GREATER. 

F. Any disputes relating to or arising out of this Agreement or Engineer’s Services shall be subject to mandatory 
mediation, which shall be a condition precedent to any form of binding dispute resolution. The Parties shall select 
a mutually agreeable mediator for any such dispute and the Parties agree to split the mediator’s costs evenly. The 
Parties may mutually agree to waive mediation. Any disputes not resolved by mediation shall be subject to 
Arbitration administered by the American Arbitration Association under its Construction Industry Arbitration 
Rules in effect as of the date of this Agreement. 

G. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of North Carolina. The Parties agree that any dispute or 
other legal action relating to this Agreement, shall be conducted only in Wake County, North Carolina, unless 
otherwise agreed to by the Parties or provided by law. 

H. A party’s non-enforcement of any provision in the Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of that provision, nor 
shall it affect the enforceability of that provision or the remainder of this Agreement. 

 
Client Initials: _____________ 

 
 



 | 7 
 

  

 
Client Information Sheet 

Project Name: 

Client Name: 

 [ ] Person [ ] Corporation  [ ] LLC    [ ] Partnership 

 Address: 

 

 Project Contact Name: 

 Title: 

 Email: 

 Phone Number(s): 

 

Billing/Invoicing Information: 

 Billing/Invoicing Contact Name (if different): 

 Email: 

 Phone Number(s):  

 Billing/Invoicing Address: 

 

Real Property Legal Owner Name: 

(Who owns the land the project is being built on?) 

 [ ] Person [ ] Corporation  [ ] LLC    [ ] Partnership 

 Address: 

 Owner Contact Name: 

 Email: 

 Phone Number(s):  

 



CHESTER COUNTY, SC



Conceptual Rezoning Plan

Proposed Homes: 1,150 +/-
Total Acreage: 329 +/- acres
Proposed Gross Density: 3.49 units/acre 

“Density. The number of dwelling units per net 
acre of developed land, excluding land devoted 
to streets, alleys, parks, playgrounds, schools 
or other public uses.” (pg.10) *

Public uses to be removed from total acreage:
• Internal Streets: 44 acres

Net acreage: 285 +/- acres
Net Density: 4 units/acre

*definition from “Chester County Zoning Ordinance”



Development Timeline

2021 2022 203620352034

2023 2033

20322024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2030 2031 2037 20382029

Years 1 – 2 Plan Approvals
• Rezoning Approval for 1,300 +/- Homes

• Preliminary Plat approval
• Construction drawing approval for First 

Phase (approximately 500 +/- Homes)

Years 3 – 7 Construction of First Phase, 
Design of Second Phase

• Installation of Site infrastructure
• Site Grading

• Erosion and Sediment Control Protection Measures
• Utilities installation

• Internal Roads
• Building Pads for Homes

• Site Inspections for Construction Approval
• Installation of Off-site Roadway Improvements as dictated by 

the Traffic Impact Analysis
• Construction of 500 +/- homes
• Application for Building Permits
• Platting of approved home lots
• As-built Construction Drawings

• Construction drawing approval for second phase 
(approximately 500+/- Homes)

Years 8 – 12 Construction of Second Phase, 
Design of Third Phase

(Repeat steps from Years 3 – 7 for Second Phase)

Years 13 – 17 Construction of Third Phase
(Repeat steps from Years 3 – 7 for Third Phase)

Year 18 
• Transfer of HOA 
from developer to 

Neighborhood



Gateway Master Plan – Current Housing Opportunities 

• Current Housing opportunities in the Gateway District 
are limited to a few established neighborhoods and 
individual larger plots of land. 

SITE



Gateway Master Plan – Concept Plan

• Winchester lies within a recommended Mixed Use and 
Rural Living

• Goals of Gateway District: “Protect Existing Industrial 
Developments”. (pg. 45)

• Majority of parcels zoned industrial
• Lack of housing opportunities to support existing 

industry
• “Promote additional housing opportunities” (pg. 48)
• “The availability of additional housing and the quality 

of existing and future housing are important 
components of the continued growth and prosperity of 
the Gateway District.” (pg. 20)

• “Creating destination is a collection of fostering 
opportunities for a mixture of uses while providing 
greater housing choices with types of housing that 
market the Gateway District to all age groups.“ (pg. 40)

• “Provide a catalyst for Chester County’s future through 
proactive planning.” (Pg. 2) The Gateway District has 
provided a plan and focus for new growth and 
development. Winchester will support the tenets and 
goals of the Gateway District.

*excerpts from “A Master Plan for the Gateway District” adopted September 18, 2017

SITE



Gateway Master Plan – Existing Zoning

• Property is currently zoned R-2
• Adjacent zoning is Planned Development (PD) to the north, Limited 

Commercial (LC) to the south, R-1 to the west, limits of the Gateway Master 
Plan to the east

• Standard planning principles encourage high-density residential uses to 
transition between commercial properties to lower density uses; i.e., 
commercially zoned property would generally transition to high-density 
residential uses

• Existing commercial properties elsewhere in the Gateway district transition 
to industrial or single family residential

• Existing residential districts do not allow for flexibility in lot sizes; minimums 
are 10,000 sf (1/4 acre) which is larger than currently constructed suburban 
neighborhoods and current market demands

• Currently there is a 
monoculture of 
housing opportunities 
in the Gateway District. 
In order to meet the 
needs of existing and 
future citizens as well 
as market demands, a 
variety of housing 
options are needed to 
fill the void. 

*excerpts from “A Master Plan for the Gateway District” adopted September 18, 2017

SITE



• Gateway Master Plan identifies the property as a 
redevelopment (undeveloped) opportunity due to the 
proximity to existing sewer. 

• The exhibit to the right “Redevelopment Areas Within 
500’ of Sewer, reflects the most significant opportunity 
for development and redevelopment regarding 
proximity to infrastructure.” (pg. 22)

Gateway Master Plan – Redevelopment Parcels

*excerpts from “A Master Plan for the Gateway District” adopted September 18, 2017

SITE



“Vision Statement: The Gateway District is a thriving, key destination center that is diverse with progressive economic 
opportunities and well-planned communities for living, working, and playing.” (pg. 40)

The Gateway District Master Plan’s four themes (pg. 40)
1. Cultivating Industry,
2. Creating Destination, 
3. Connecting Nature and 
4. Advancing Infrastructure 

“Cultivating industry actions can include: 
• Secure more local economic opportunities to reverse the commuting pattern and provide jobs closer to home.” (pg. 46)

Winchester will cultivate industry by:
• Promoting additional housing opportunities
• Providing homes closer to work for employees of major industry

Our Vision | Meeting the Gateway District’s Goals

*excerpts from “A Master Plan for the Gateway District” adopted September 18, 2017



“Vision Statement: The Gateway District is a thriving, key destination center that is diverse with progressive economic 
opportunities and well-planned communities for living, working, and playing.” (pg. 40)

The Gateway District Master Plan’s four themes (pg. 40)
1. Cultivating Industry, 
2. Creating Destination,
3. Connecting Nature and 
4. Advancing Infrastructure 

“Creating destination is a collection of fostering opportunities for a mixture of uses while providing greater housing choices 
with types of housing that market the Gateway District to all age groups.” (pg. 40)

“The availability of additional housing and the quality of existing and future housing are important components of the 
continued growth and prosperity of the Gateway District” (pg. 20)

Winchester will create destination by:
• Promoting additional housing opportunities
• Providing a variety of home choices for all age-groups and incomes
• Supplying high-quality housing for all home choices
• Meeting more market needs and housing demands
• Supporting existing industry by providing an increased population in Gateway District

Our Vision | Meeting the Gateway District’s Goals

*excerpts from “A Master Plan for the Gateway District” adopted September 18, 2017



“Vision Statement: The Gateway District is a thriving, key destination center that is diverse with progressive economic 
opportunities and well-planned communities for living, working, and playing.” (pg. 40)

The Gateway District Master Plan’s four themes (pg. 40)
1. Cultivating Industry, 
2. Creating Destination, 
3. Connecting Nature and 
4. Advancing Infrastructure 

“Incorporating trails and open spaces into development within the Gateway District are a key component for providing 
connections to nature and healthy communities.” (pg. 52)

Winchester will connect nature by:
• Protecting natural features on-site, including Fishing Creek
• Connecting people and nature through an extensive pedestrian network of walking trails and sidewalks
• Providing tree lined corridors throughout the community
• Providing pocket parks within walking distance for each enclave
• Designing in harmony with nature through sound planning principles

Our Vision | Meeting the Gateway District’s Goals

*excerpts from “A Master Plan for the Gateway District” adopted September 18, 2017



“Vision Statement: The Gateway District is a thriving, key destination center that is diverse with progressive economic 
opportunities and well-planned communities for living, working, and playing.” (pg. 40)

The Gateway District Master Plan’s four themes (pg. 40)
1. Cultivating Industry, 
2. Creating Destination, 
3. Connecting Nature and 
4. Advancing Infrastructure

“Existing infrastructure should be improved, rehabilitated and maintained to foster infill development. Within the Gateway 
District, infill development will occur on underutilized properties that are noted as undeveloped and underdeveloped. 
Infrastructure for these locations will be key to infill development as existing infrastructure will [incentivize] redevelopment.” 
(pg. 58)

“The goal of the Regional Wastewater Planning Study for Chester County Wastewater Recovery is to ensure that wastewater 
infrastructure is planned to handle the future growth in the planning area for a fifty year planning period.” (pg. 58)

“All infrastructure providers in the Gateway District support growth and future development patterns.” (pg. 58)

Winchester will advance infrastructure by:
• Promoting infill development of undeveloped land
• Providing access to water and sewer and expansion of existing system
• Providing access to major roads such as 901 (Edgeland Road) and Interstate 77
• Providing developer-funded infrastructure improvements

Our Vision | Meeting the Gateway District’s Goals

*excerpts from “A Master Plan for the Gateway District” adopted September 18, 2017









CCMA21-03: Chester Land Holdings, LLC. Request Tax Map # 123-00-00-052-000 located 
along Edgeland and Ernandez Road, Edgemoor SC, be rezoned from LC (Limited Commercial) to 
PD (Planned Development) 

Chairman Raines said with all the discussion we have had I am not going to call for any more 
questions or comments.  

Chairman Raines made a motion to disapprove this also since PD has got to be all together so 
obviously it is one for none. Commissioner Walley seconded the motion. Vote was 7-0 deny.  

 



To: Chester County Council 

From: Chester Land Holdings LLC 

Date: May 12, 2021 

 

RE: Winchester neighborhood commitments and concessions 

 

As part of the rezoning application, the development team commits to: 

• Building a high-quality residential community to include 1,150 single-family detached dwellings and 

their associated accessory uses. 

Minimum lot size: 2,700 SF 

Minimum lot width: 30' 

Minimum yards 

Front: 20' 

Side: 5' 

Rear: 20' 

Maximum structure height: 35 feet when permitted by fire regulations 

Accessory structures shall be consistent with the principal building in material, texture, and 

color 

• Providing access locations to the site subject to review and approval by SCDOT and/or Chester 

County. 

• Providing internal public streets designed, constructed and maintained to SCDOT standards. Public 

streets will be owned by SCDOT. 

• Providing a Traffic Impact Analysis prior to site plan approval. Requirements placed on the site by 

SCDOT and County review will be incorporated as necessary. 

• Meeting parking requirements as per Chester County's Zoning Ordinance Chapter 5, Art. IV Parking 

• Complying with applicable local and State standards for environmental impacts, avoidance and/or 

buffering. All local and state regulations regarding erosion and sediment control and stormwater 

management will be designed and incorporated into the site plan at time of site plan submittal.  

• Depicting a conceptual landscaping plan showing proposed landscaping, perimeter buffering and/or 

existing tree cover. All local regulations regarding required landscaping will be followed. 

• Providing amenities, amenity areas and open spaces as conceptually shown on the Conceptual 

Rezoning Plan that will be owned and maintained by an HOA. Amenities may include but are not 

limited to: Clubhouse and pool, pocket parks throughout the neighborhood, seating areas, 

landscaped areas, playgrounds, open multi-purpose lawn spaces, dog park, trails.  

• Screening as shown conceptually on the rezoning plan to meet the standards as set forth in Chester 

County's Zoning Ordinance Chapter 5, Art. III Landscaping 

• Providing signs to meet the standards set forth in Chester County's Zoning Ordinance Chapter 5, Art. 

V Signs 

• Providing the architectural character associated with the building(s) to be located on the site as 

generally depicted in the Vision Book are included to reflect the architectural style and quality of the 

building(s) that will be constructed.  



• Committing to acceptable facade materials may be: masonry materials such as brick, hard stucco, 

stone or tile materials. Cementitious (panel, siding, trim & battens), (e.i.f.s), and vinyl. New materials 

to the market proposed for exterior use are acceptable pending compliance with the architectural 

character. 

• Phasing the development of the neighborhood. 

• Dedicating 2± acres of land along Edgeland Road, location to be coordinated with County personnel 

for use by Fire, EMS and Sheriff departments. 

• Committing to Street widths will be sufficient to allow fire apparatus to travel with on street 

parking. 

• Providing hydrants will be provided within 500 feet of any structure and no more than 800 feet 

apart. 

• Providing hydrants will be provided with Stortz connections. 

• Providing minimum side setbacks are 5-feet, Developer will ensure 1500 GPM flow is provided for 

the water system serving the property. System will be improved as necessary to ensure the required 

flow. This requirement could be reduced if spacing between homes is greater. 

 

In response to City Council requests, we have specifically:  

• Reduced Single family homes from 1,500 to 1,150 

• Increased side yard setbacks 

• Committed to Fire department request for 2+/- acres of land along Edgeland Road 

• Committed to design/updgrade the water system servicing the neighborhood to meet the 

1,500 gallons per minute water flow to site requirement 

• Met other Fire department requests to provide hydrants and desired internal street widths. 

• Worked with Chester County Wastewater Recovery to secure sewer capacity assurance in 

approved unit increments 

 

We are currently reaching out to Council to address any further requests, questions and concerns to 

meet Chester County’s needs.  



GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

EDGELAND RD

ED
G

EL
AN

D 
RD

GASTON RD

LA
ND

O
 R

D

ERNANDEZ RD

SCM

SCM

SCM

SCM

SCM

SCM

ROAD "A"

ROAD "A"

ROAD "B"

ROAD "B
"

ROAD "C
" RO

AD
 "D

"

ROAD "E"

ROAD "E"

ROAD "F"

ROAD "G"

ROAD "H
"

ROAD "I
"

ROAD "I"

ROAD "J"

ROAD "K"

RO
AD

 "K
"

RO
AD

 "L
"

ROAD "M"

RO
AD

 "M
"

ROAD "N"

ROAD "O"

R
O

AD
 "P"

ROAD "Q
"

ROAD "Q"

ROAD "R"

R
O

AD
 "G

"

ROAD "S"

R
O

AD
 "T

"

R
O

AD
 "U

"

ROAD "V"

ROAD "BB"

ROAD "CC"

ROAD "EE"

RO
AD "DD"

ROAD "FF"

N

LOCATION MAP                                                                        SCALE: 1" = 3,000'

SITE

Conceptual Rezoning Plan Winchester
Chester County, South Carolina

May 12, 2021

Page 1 of 1

Note: Conceptual Plans Only, lot yield and layout subject to change based on final design and approvals.8008 Corporate Center Dr, Suite 110 | Charlotte, NC 28226 | 704.375.2438

EDGELAND RD

ED
G

EL
AN

D 
RD

ERNANDEZ RD

GASTO
N R

D

LA
ND

O
 R

D

IN
TER

STATE 77

IN
TER

STATE 77

LANCASTER HWY

GASTON FARM RD

A. General Provisions
A.1. These development standards form a part of the Conceptual Rezoning Plan associated with the rezoning petition filed by

Chester Land Holdings LLC to accommodate the development of a residential community on an approximately 328.9 +/- acre
site located on the east side of Edgeland Road, north of its intersection with Ernandez Road, as shown on the Conceptual
Rezoning Plan. The Conceptual Rezoning Plan is comprised of Tax Parcel Nos: 123-00-00-032-000 and 123-00-00-078-000.

A.2. The development of the site will be governed by the Conceptual Rezoning Plan, these development standards and the
applicable provisions of the Chester County Zoning Ordinance and Chester County Land Development Regulations.

A.3. The development as depicted on the Conceptual Rezoning Plan is schematic in nature and intended to depict the general
arrangement of uses and improvements on the site. Exact locations of internal roads, lots, building, stormwater measures,
amenity locations, etc. will be determined at time of site plan submittal.

A.4. Topographic contours and streams shown were obtained from USGS Edgemoor and Catawba Quadrangle maps.
A.5. Base information was obtained from Chester County GIS.
A.6. Floodplain information was obtained from FEMA FIRM Map Nos: 45023C0113C and 45023C0094C

B. Permitted Uses and Lot Information
B.1. The site will be developed as a residential community to include single-family detached dwellings and their associated

accessory uses.

C. Lot Standards:

Single Family Detached: 1,150 *
Minimum lot size: 2,700 SF
Minimum lot width: 30'
Minimum yards

Front: 20'
Side: 5'
Rear: 20'

*Amount shown is approximate. Actual number of units to be determined at time of site plan submittal.

D. Transportation and Site Circulation
D.1. The placement and configuration of the vehicular accesses to the site will be as generally depicted on the Conceptual Rezoning

Plan subject to modifications required for approval by SCDOT and/or Chester County.
D.2. The site will be served by internal public streets and may also be served by internal private drives and/or alleys. Adjustments to

the locations of the internal public streets and the internal private drives and/or alleys that respond to actual site and
environmental conditions will be allowed during the site plan process.

D.3. Public streets will be designed and constructed to SCDOT standards. Public streets will be owned and maintained by SCDOT.
D.4. A Traffic Impact Analysis is required by Chester County prior to site plan approval. Requirements placed on the site by SCDOT

and County review will be incorporated as necessary into the site plan at time of site plan submittal.
D.5. Off-street parking and loading requirements will meet the standards set forth in Chester County's Zoning Ordinance Chapter 5,

Art. IV Parking

E. Environmental
E.1. The site will comply with applicable local and State standards for environmental impacts, avoidance and/or buffering.
E.2. All local and state regulations regarding erosion and sediment control and stormwater management will be observed and

incorporated into the site plan at time of site plan submittal. Exact location and sizing of stormwater mitigation measures will be
determined at time of site plan submittal.

F. Landscape,  Open Space and Signage
F.1. A conceptual landscaping plan showing proposed landscaping, perimeter buffering and/or existing tree cover is included with

the rezoning package. All local regulations regarding required landscaping will be observed and incorporated at time of site plan
submittal.

F.2. Amenities, amenity areas and open spaces as conceptually shown on the Conceptual Rezoning Plan would be owned and
maintained by an HOA. Amenities may include but are not limited to: Clubhouse and pool, pocket parks throughout the
neighborhood, seating areas, landscaped areas, playgrounds, open multi-purpose lawn spaces, dog park, trails.

F.3. Screening as shown conceptually on the rezoning plan will meet the standards as set forth in Chester County's Zoning
Ordinance Chapter 5, Art. III Landscaping

F.4. Signs will meet the standards set forth in Chester County's Zoning Ordinance Chapter 5, Art. V Signs

G. Architecture
G.1. Where practical, buildings shall be oriented towards the internal street system to reinforce the streetscape.
G.2. Maximum structure height: 35 feet when permitted by fire regulations [not applicable to church spires, belfries, cupolas, domes,

utility and communication towers, chimneys, flag poles, antennae]
G.3. Accessory structures shall be consistent with the principal building in material, texture, and color.
G.4. The architectural character associated with the building(s) to be located on the site as generally depicted in the Vision Book are

included to reflect the architectural style and quality of the building(s) that will be constructed. Actual building(s) to be
constructed and the nature and/or location of the building elements may vary from these illustrations as long as the general
architectural concept and intent shown is maintained and heights of any buildings above heights specified are not increased.

G.5. Acceptable facade materials include but are not limited to the following: masonry materials such as brick, hard stucco, stone or
tile materials. Cementitious (panel, siding, trim & battens), (e.i.f.s), and vinyl. New materials to the market proposed for exterior
use are acceptable pending compliance with the architectural character.

H. Phasing:
H.1. Phasing will be established at time of site plan submittal. It is anticipated this site will have more than one phase. Phases may

overlap as reasonable.

I. Fire:
I.1. Developer will dedicate 2± acres of land along Edgeland Road, location to be coordinated with County personnel for use by

Fire, EMS and Sheriff departments.
I.2. Street widths will be sufficient to allow fire apparatus to travel with on street parking.
I.3. Hydrants will be provided within 500 feet of any structure and no more than 800 feet apart.
I.4. Hydrants will be provided with Stortz connections.
I.5. As minimum side setbacks are 5-feet, Developer will ensure 1500 GPM flow is provided for the water system serving the

property. System will be improved as necessary to ensure the required flow. This requirement could be reduced if spacing
between homes is greater.

Legend:

Open Space

FEMA Floodplain

Single Family Detached

Proposed Fire/EMS/Sheriff
Station
(Location to be coordinated with County
personnel)

Buffers (Environmental, Utility
and Perimeter)

Right-of-Way

Roads

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
900

AutoCAD SHX Text
600

AutoCAD SHX Text
300



 

 

 
 

April 14, 2021 
 
Sara Shirley 
American Engineering 
8008 Corporate Center Drive, Suite 110 

 
 

 
[Sent via email] 
 
Reference: Winchester – Chester County, SC 
 
Subject:  Transportation Engineering Services Agreement 
 
Dear Ms. Shirley: 
 
Ramey Kemp & Associates Inc. (RKA) is pleased to provide you with this Transportation Engineering Services 
Agreement for the above referenced project. We understand this development is located east of Edgeland Road, and north 
of J. S. Gaston Road in Chester County, South Carolina. It is our understanding the South Carolina Department of 
Transportation (SCDOT) and/or Chester County (County) will require a Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) for the proposed 
project. The following is our proposed scope of services for the Project. The parties acknowledge that the scope of services 
may change following consultation or coordination with governmental agencies. The parties agree that should the scope 
of services change following any such consultation or coordination, RKA will provide the Client with a revised proposal 
or an addendum to this agreement setting forth any such changes and associated costs to be paid by the Client. 
 
 

I.) SCOPE OF SERVICES: 
  

A.) Traffic Engineering:  
 

a. Coordinate with Client to establish a thorough understanding of the project as well as to obtain all 
available information. 

 
b. Coordinate with SCDOT and/or the County to discuss the project, obtain information, and finalize scope. 

This proposal assumes a maximum of one (1) virtual meeting [conference call or video teleconference] 
may be needed for scoping purposes.  
 

c. This proposal assumes up to eight (8) intersections will be considered for analysis. The study 
intersections included in this proposal consist of: 

1. Lancaster Highway and I-85 Southbound Ramps 
2. Lancaster Highway and I-85 Northbound Ramps 
3. Lancaster Highway and Edgeland Road 
4. Lancaster Highway and Wylies Mill Road 
5. Lancaster Highway and Main Street 
6. Edgeland Road and Westbrook Road 
7. Edgeland Road and Lando Road / Access A 
8. Edgeland Road and Access B 
 



 | 2 
 

  

d. Turning movement counts at intersections 1 through 5 will be completed during the AM and PM peak 
hours (7:00-9:00 AM and 4:00-6:00 PM). A 14-hour turn movement count will be conducted at the 
intersection of Lancaster Highway and Edgeland Road (6:00 AM – 8:00 PM). 

 
e. Utilizing trip generation formulas in the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation 

Manual, 10th Edition, calculate the amount of weekday daily, weekday AM peak hour, and weekday PM 
peak hour traffic to be generated by the proposed development upon full build out.  
 

f. Determine site trip distribution percentages based on surrounding population densities, existing traffic 
patterns, the previously approved Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) for nearby sites, and engineering 
judgment.  Assign site-generated traffic to study intersections utilizing trip distribution percentages.  

 
g. Project existing traffic volumes to the build-out year using a compounded growth rate typically approved 

by SCDOT and/or the County. Combine the background traffic with the site traffic to determine the 
future traffic conditions that can be expected upon build-out of the site. The background traffic will 
include any approved adjacent developments.  This proposal assumes the traffic from any approved 
adjacent development will be provided by the reviewing agencies.  

 
h. Analyze study intersections during the weekday AM and PM peak hours for the following scenarios: 

1. 2021 Existing 
2. Future No-Build (Full Build Year) Traffic 
3. Future Full Build (Full Build Year) Traffic 

 
i. Conduct a signal warrant analysis for the intersection of Lancaster Highway and Edgeland Road. Signal 

Warrants 1, 2, and 3 from the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) will be analyzed. 
 

j. Prepare a Traffic Impact Analysis documenting the study findings with graphical aides and an appendix 
of supporting data. Provide a draft copy to the Client for review. Upon approval, submit necessary copies 
of the report to SCDOT (if required) and local reviewing agencies for their review and comments. 
 

k. Coordinate with the Client to ensure an understanding of the study and answer questions via  
virtual meeting [conference call or video teleconference].  
 

l. Coordinate with SCDOT (if required) and local reviewing agencies (via telephone or written 
correspondence) to ensure an understanding of the study and answer questions. It is difficult to estimate 
the extent of comments to be provided by SCDOT and/or the local review agency regarding the review. 
Should revised analyses or any other additional effort beyond written clarifications be required to 
address comments or provide additional information to the agencies, a supplemental proposal will be 
provided. 

 
m. Any meetings requested by the Client for RKA to attend will be billed on an hourly + expenses basis. 

 



 | 3 
 

  

B.) Additional Services: 
Additional (extra) services are defined as any work item not included in the above scope of services that are 
requested by the client or review agencies. Additional services will be billable at the RKA billing rates that are 
current at the time the extra work is identified. Any meetings not included in the scope of services will be 
considered extra. Extra work will be identified either in writing or by verbal communication, if requested by the 
client, but must be approved in writing by client before proceeding to perform such additional services. 
 
Additional services RKA provides includes, but is not limited to, the following areas: 

• Driveway permits and encroachment agreements 

• Roadway design 
o Intersection Improvement Design 
o Highway and Interchange Design 
o Roundabout Design 
o Sidewalk Design  
o Cost estimations 

• Traffic signal design and timing plans 

• Signing and pavement marking plans 

• Hydraulic Design 
 
II.) SUMMARY OF FEES: 
RKA will provide the above noted services based on the following fee(s). 

Service(s) Lump Sum or Hourly+Expenses FEE 

A.) Traffic Engineering Lump Sum $15,000.00 

 
a.) Fee is valid for 30 days from the date of this agreement. 
b.) RKA’s hourly rates/expenses are subject to change and RKA reserves the right to make modifications.  
c.) A schedule of Hourly Rate and Reimbursable Expenses can be provided upon request.  
 

III.) DEPOSIT: 
Client will be required to pay to RKA up to fifty percent (50%) of the fee identified in the proposal before RKA commences 
any services or work pursuant to this Agreement. RKA will submit invoices to client as provided herein as the services are 
performed. RKA will hold the client’s deposit and credit the amount of the deposit against RKA’s final invoice(s) for RKA’s 
services. 
 
IV.) GENERAL CONDITIONS: 
RKA General Conditions (Attachment 1) are incorporated herein by reference (see attached). The undersigned client 
represents and acknowledges that they have been provided with a copy of the General Conditions and have read and 
fully understand the General Conditions. 
 
V.) PROJECT/CLIENT INFORMATION SHEET: 
RKA Project/Client Information Sheet (Attachment 2) is incorporated herein by reference (see attached). A completed 
Project/Client Information Sheet must be returned with signed agreement. 



 | 4 
 

  

VI.) ACCEPTANCE: 
The undersigned represents and warrants that (1) he or she is duly authorized and has legal capacity to execute/deliver 
this Agreement, (2) the execution/delivery of this Agreement and the performance of the Client’s obligations hereunder 
have been duly authorized, (3) and the Agreement is a valid/legal agreement binding on the Client and enforceable in 
accordance with its terms. 
 
Accepted this _________ day of ___________________________ (month), _________ (year) 
 
 
Client Name:______________________________________ 
   (Print) 
 
By: _____________________________________________ Title: ____________________________ 
  (Sign) (Print) 
 
 
We very much appreciate you contacting us and look forward to assisting you with this project. 
 
Sincerely, 
Ramey Kemp & Associates, Inc. 

 
J. Andrew Eagle, PE, PTOE 
Senior Traffic Engineering Project Manager 
 
 
Attachments: 1- RKA General Conditions  
  2- RKA Project/Client Information Sheet 
  3- RKA Deposit Invoice 
 



 | 5 
 

  

 
ATTACHMENT - 1 

Ramey Kemp & Associates General Conditions  
(As of January 1, 2016) 

1.01 Payment Procedures 
A. Invoices: Invoices are due and payable upon receipt. If Client fails to make any payment due Engineer for Services, 

extra work, or expenses within 30 days after receipt of Engineer’s invoice, then (1) the amounts due Engineer will be 
increased at the rate of 1.5% per month (or the maximum rate of interest permitted by law, if less) from said thirtieth 
day, and (2) in addition Engineer may, after giving three days written notice to Client, suspend Services under this 
Agreement until Engineer has been paid in full all amounts due for Services, extra work, expenses, and other related 
charges. Client waives any and all claims against Engineer for any such suspension. 

B. Payment: As compensation for Engineer providing or furnishing Services and extra work, Client shall pay Engineer 
as set forth herein. If Client disputes an invoice, either as to amount or entitlement, then Client shall promptly advise 
Engineer in writing of the specific basis for doing so, may withhold only that portion so disputed, and must pay the 
undisputed portion. 
 

2.01 Termination 
A. The obligation to continue performance under this Agreement may be terminated for cause: 

1. By either party upon 14 days written notice in the event of substantial failure by the other party to perform in 
accordance with the Agreement’s terms through no fault of the terminating party. Failure to pay Engineer for its 
Services shall constitute a substantial failure to perform and a basis for termination. 

2. By Engineer: 

a. upon seven days written notice if Client demands that Engineer furnish or perform services contrary to 
Engineer’s responsibilities as a licensed professional; or  

b. upon seven days written notice if the Engineer’s Services are delayed for more than 30 days for reasons 
beyond Engineer’s control. 

B. Engineer shall have no liability to Client on account of a termination for cause by Engineer.  
C. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Agreement will not terminate as a result of a substantial failure under 

Paragraph 2.01.A.1 if the party receiving such notice begins, within three days of receipt of such notice, to correct its 
substantial failure to perform, proceeds diligently to cure such failure, and does cure such failure within no more 
than 14 days of receipt of notice; provided, however, that if and to the extent such substantial failure cannot be 
reasonably cured within such 14-day period, and if such party has diligently attempted to cure the same and 
thereafter continues diligently to cure the same, then the cure period provided for herein shall extend up to, but in 
no case more than, 30 days after the date of receipt of the notice. 

D. The Agreement may be terminated for convenience by Client effective upon Engineer's receipt of written notice 
from Client. 

E. In the event of any termination under Paragraph 2.01.D, Engineer will be entitled to invoice Client and to receive 
full payment for all Services and extra work performed or furnished in accordance with this Agreement, plus 
reimbursement of expenses incurred through the effective date of termination in connection with providing the 
Services and extra work, Engineer’s consultants’ charges, if any, and any other reasonable costs incurred by 
Engineer as a result of such termination. 
 

3.01 General Considerations 
A. Should completion of any portion of the Services by Engineer be delayed, suspended, or impaired, through no fault 

of Engineer, then the time for completion of Engineer’s Services, and the rates and amounts of Engineer’s 
compensation, shall be adjusted equitably. 

B. Engineer shall not be responsible for any decision made regarding the construction contract requirements, or any 
application, interpretation, clarification, or modification of the construction contract documents other than those 
made by Engineer or its consultants. 

C. All documents prepared or furnished by Engineer are instruments of service, and Engineer retains all ownership 
and property interest (including the copyright and the right of reuse) in such documents, whether or not the Project 
is completed. Client shall have a limited license to use the documents on the Project, extensions of the Project, and 



 | 6 
 

  

for related uses of the Client, subject to receipt by Engineer of full payment due and owing for all Services and extra 
work relating to preparation of the documents and subject to the following limitations: 
1. Client acknowledges that such documents are not intended or represented to be suitable for use on the Project 

unless completed by Engineer, or for use or reuse by Client or others on extensions of the Project, on any other 
project, or for any other use or purpose, without written verification or adaptation by Engineer; 

2. any such use or reuse, or any modification of the documents, without written verification, completion, or 
adaptation by Engineer, as appropriate for the specific purpose intended, will be at Client’s sole risk; 

3. Client shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless Engineer and its officers, directors, members, partners, agents, 
employees, and consultants from all claims, damages, losses, and expenses, including attorneys’ fees, arising out 
of or resulting from any use, reuse, or modification of the documents without written verification, completion, 
or adaptation by Engineer; and such limited license to Client shall not create any rights in third parties. 

D. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Client and Engineer waive against each other, and the other’s employees, 
officers, directors, members, agents, insurers, partners, and consultants, any and all claims for or entitlement to 
special, incidental, indirect, or consequential damages arising out of, resulting from, or in any way related to this 
Agreement or the Project. 

E. ENGINEER AND CLIENT AGREE THAT ENGINEER’S (INCLUDING ENGINEER’S OFFICERS, 
DIRECTORS, MEMBERS, PARTNERS, AGENTS, AND EMPLOYEES) TOTAL LIABILITY TO THE CLIENT 
AND TO ANYONE CLAIMING BY, THROUGH, OR UNDER THE CLIENT FOR ANY AND ALL INJURIES, 
CLAIMS, LOSSES, COSTS, DAMAGES, AND EXPENSES ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS 
AGREEMENT OR THE SERVICES PERFORMED HEREUNDER, WHETHER ARISING IN CONTRACT, 
TORT, EQUITY, STRICT LIABILITY, BY STATUTE, OR OTHERWISE, SHALL BE LIMITED TO $25,000.00 OR 
ENGINEER’S TOTAL FEE FOR THE SERVICES PERFORMED HEREUNDER, WHICHEVER IS GREATER. 

F. Any disputes relating to or arising out of this Agreement or Engineer’s Services shall be subject to mandatory 
mediation, which shall be a condition precedent to any form of binding dispute resolution. The Parties shall select 
a mutually agreeable mediator for any such dispute and the Parties agree to split the mediator’s costs evenly. The 
Parties may mutually agree to waive mediation. Any disputes not resolved by mediation shall be subject to 
Arbitration administered by the American Arbitration Association under its Construction Industry Arbitration 
Rules in effect as of the date of this Agreement. 

G. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of North Carolina. The Parties agree that any dispute or 
other legal action relating to this Agreement, shall be conducted only in Wake County, North Carolina, unless 
otherwise agreed to by the Parties or provided by law. 

H. A party’s non-enforcement of any provision in the Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of that provision, nor 
shall it affect the enforceability of that provision or the remainder of this Agreement. 

 
Client Initials: _____________ 

 
 



 | 7 
 

  

 
Client Information Sheet 

Project Name: 

Client Name: 

 [ ] Person [ ] Corporation  [ ] LLC    [ ] Partnership 

 Address: 

 

 Project Contact Name: 

 Title: 

 Email: 

 Phone Number(s): 

 

Billing/Invoicing Information: 

 Billing/Invoicing Contact Name (if different): 

 Email: 

 Phone Number(s):  

 Billing/Invoicing Address: 

 

Real Property Legal Owner Name: 

(Who owns the land the project is being built on?) 

 [ ] Person [ ] Corporation  [ ] LLC    [ ] Partnership 

 Address: 

 Owner Contact Name: 

 Email: 

 Phone Number(s):  

 



CHESTER COUNTY, SC



Conceptual Rezoning Plan

Proposed Homes: 1,150 +/-
Total Acreage: 329 +/- acres
Proposed Gross Density: 3.49 units/acre 

“Density. The number of dwelling units per net 
acre of developed land, excluding land devoted 
to streets, alleys, parks, playgrounds, schools 
or other public uses.” (pg.10) *

Public uses to be removed from total acreage:
• Internal Streets: 44 acres

Net acreage: 285 +/- acres
Net Density: 4 units/acre

*definition from “Chester County Zoning Ordinance”



Development Timeline

2021 2022 203620352034

2023 2033

20322024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2030 2031 2037 20382029

Years 1 – 2 Plan Approvals
• Rezoning Approval for 1,300 +/- Homes

• Preliminary Plat approval
• Construction drawing approval for First 

Phase (approximately 500 +/- Homes)

Years 3 – 7 Construction of First Phase, 
Design of Second Phase

• Installation of Site infrastructure
• Site Grading

• Erosion and Sediment Control Protection Measures
• Utilities installation

• Internal Roads
• Building Pads for Homes

• Site Inspections for Construction Approval
• Installation of Off-site Roadway Improvements as dictated by 

the Traffic Impact Analysis
• Construction of 500 +/- homes
• Application for Building Permits
• Platting of approved home lots
• As-built Construction Drawings

• Construction drawing approval for second phase 
(approximately 500+/- Homes)

Years 8 – 12 Construction of Second Phase, 
Design of Third Phase

(Repeat steps from Years 3 – 7 for Second Phase)

Years 13 – 17 Construction of Third Phase
(Repeat steps from Years 3 – 7 for Third Phase)

Year 18 
• Transfer of HOA 
from developer to 

Neighborhood



Gateway Master Plan – Current Housing Opportunities 

• Current Housing opportunities in the Gateway District 
are limited to a few established neighborhoods and 
individual larger plots of land. 

SITE



Gateway Master Plan – Concept Plan

• Winchester lies within a recommended Mixed Use and 
Rural Living

• Goals of Gateway District: “Protect Existing Industrial 
Developments”. (pg. 45)

• Majority of parcels zoned industrial
• Lack of housing opportunities to support existing 

industry
• “Promote additional housing opportunities” (pg. 48)
• “The availability of additional housing and the quality 

of existing and future housing are important 
components of the continued growth and prosperity of 
the Gateway District.” (pg. 20)

• “Creating destination is a collection of fostering 
opportunities for a mixture of uses while providing 
greater housing choices with types of housing that 
market the Gateway District to all age groups.“ (pg. 40)

• “Provide a catalyst for Chester County’s future through 
proactive planning.” (Pg. 2) The Gateway District has 
provided a plan and focus for new growth and 
development. Winchester will support the tenets and 
goals of the Gateway District.

*excerpts from “A Master Plan for the Gateway District” adopted September 18, 2017

SITE



Gateway Master Plan – Existing Zoning

• Property is currently zoned R-2
• Adjacent zoning is Planned Development (PD) to the north, Limited 

Commercial (LC) to the south, R-1 to the west, limits of the Gateway Master 
Plan to the east

• Standard planning principles encourage high-density residential uses to 
transition between commercial properties to lower density uses; i.e., 
commercially zoned property would generally transition to high-density 
residential uses

• Existing commercial properties elsewhere in the Gateway district transition 
to industrial or single family residential

• Existing residential districts do not allow for flexibility in lot sizes; minimums 
are 10,000 sf (1/4 acre) which is larger than currently constructed suburban 
neighborhoods and current market demands

• Currently there is a 
monoculture of 
housing opportunities 
in the Gateway District. 
In order to meet the 
needs of existing and 
future citizens as well 
as market demands, a 
variety of housing 
options are needed to 
fill the void. 

*excerpts from “A Master Plan for the Gateway District” adopted September 18, 2017

SITE



• Gateway Master Plan identifies the property as a 
redevelopment (undeveloped) opportunity due to the 
proximity to existing sewer. 

• The exhibit to the right “Redevelopment Areas Within 
500’ of Sewer, reflects the most significant opportunity 
for development and redevelopment regarding 
proximity to infrastructure.” (pg. 22)

Gateway Master Plan – Redevelopment Parcels

*excerpts from “A Master Plan for the Gateway District” adopted September 18, 2017

SITE



“Vision Statement: The Gateway District is a thriving, key destination center that is diverse with progressive economic 
opportunities and well-planned communities for living, working, and playing.” (pg. 40)

The Gateway District Master Plan’s four themes (pg. 40)
1. Cultivating Industry,
2. Creating Destination, 
3. Connecting Nature and 
4. Advancing Infrastructure 

“Cultivating industry actions can include: 
• Secure more local economic opportunities to reverse the commuting pattern and provide jobs closer to home.” (pg. 46)

Winchester will cultivate industry by:
• Promoting additional housing opportunities
• Providing homes closer to work for employees of major industry

Our Vision | Meeting the Gateway District’s Goals

*excerpts from “A Master Plan for the Gateway District” adopted September 18, 2017



“Vision Statement: The Gateway District is a thriving, key destination center that is diverse with progressive economic 
opportunities and well-planned communities for living, working, and playing.” (pg. 40)

The Gateway District Master Plan’s four themes (pg. 40)
1. Cultivating Industry, 
2. Creating Destination,
3. Connecting Nature and 
4. Advancing Infrastructure 

“Creating destination is a collection of fostering opportunities for a mixture of uses while providing greater housing choices 
with types of housing that market the Gateway District to all age groups.” (pg. 40)

“The availability of additional housing and the quality of existing and future housing are important components of the 
continued growth and prosperity of the Gateway District” (pg. 20)

Winchester will create destination by:
• Promoting additional housing opportunities
• Providing a variety of home choices for all age-groups and incomes
• Supplying high-quality housing for all home choices
• Meeting more market needs and housing demands
• Supporting existing industry by providing an increased population in Gateway District

Our Vision | Meeting the Gateway District’s Goals

*excerpts from “A Master Plan for the Gateway District” adopted September 18, 2017



“Vision Statement: The Gateway District is a thriving, key destination center that is diverse with progressive economic 
opportunities and well-planned communities for living, working, and playing.” (pg. 40)

The Gateway District Master Plan’s four themes (pg. 40)
1. Cultivating Industry, 
2. Creating Destination, 
3. Connecting Nature and 
4. Advancing Infrastructure 

“Incorporating trails and open spaces into development within the Gateway District are a key component for providing 
connections to nature and healthy communities.” (pg. 52)

Winchester will connect nature by:
• Protecting natural features on-site, including Fishing Creek
• Connecting people and nature through an extensive pedestrian network of walking trails and sidewalks
• Providing tree lined corridors throughout the community
• Providing pocket parks within walking distance for each enclave
• Designing in harmony with nature through sound planning principles

Our Vision | Meeting the Gateway District’s Goals

*excerpts from “A Master Plan for the Gateway District” adopted September 18, 2017



“Vision Statement: The Gateway District is a thriving, key destination center that is diverse with progressive economic 
opportunities and well-planned communities for living, working, and playing.” (pg. 40)

The Gateway District Master Plan’s four themes (pg. 40)
1. Cultivating Industry, 
2. Creating Destination, 
3. Connecting Nature and 
4. Advancing Infrastructure

“Existing infrastructure should be improved, rehabilitated and maintained to foster infill development. Within the Gateway 
District, infill development will occur on underutilized properties that are noted as undeveloped and underdeveloped. 
Infrastructure for these locations will be key to infill development as existing infrastructure will [incentivize] redevelopment.” 
(pg. 58)

“The goal of the Regional Wastewater Planning Study for Chester County Wastewater Recovery is to ensure that wastewater 
infrastructure is planned to handle the future growth in the planning area for a fifty year planning period.” (pg. 58)

“All infrastructure providers in the Gateway District support growth and future development patterns.” (pg. 58)

Winchester will advance infrastructure by:
• Promoting infill development of undeveloped land
• Providing access to water and sewer and expansion of existing system
• Providing access to major roads such as 901 (Edgeland Road) and Interstate 77
• Providing developer-funded infrastructure improvements

Our Vision | Meeting the Gateway District’s Goals

*excerpts from “A Master Plan for the Gateway District” adopted September 18, 2017















LWE
N.C. CORP. LIC. C-1815

LATHAM-WALTERS
ENGINEERING, INC.

16507-A NORTHCROSS DRIVE
 HUNTERSVILLE, N.C. 28078

 PHONE: (704) 895-8484
FAX:  (704) 237-4362

C
H

ES
W

IC
K

LA
N

C
AS

TE
R

 H
W

Y 
& 

W
YL

IE
S 

M
IL

L 
R

O
AD

REVISIONS

PROJECT NO.: 2020.35

SCALE: 

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

SHEET NO:

JLW

MSL

DATE:  05/25/2021

3515 DOVEWOOD DRIVE
CHARLOTTE, NC  28226
 PHONE: (704)-361-7777

 judsonstringfellow@gmail.com

JDSI, LLC

R
IC

H
BU

R
G

, S
C

  2
97

29

05/25/2021  REVISED

PARCEL ID: 124-00-00-024-000
KIRKPATRICK AQUISITIONS, LLC
119 ACRES
D.B. 923 PG. 156
EX. ZONING: RS-1

1

PARCEL ID: 124-00-00-029-000
ST. KATHERINE PROPERTIES, LLC
42 ACRES
D.B. 926 PG. 109
EX. ZONING:  GC

SINGLE-FAMILY - MEDIUM DENSITY

SINGLE-FAMILY - LOW DENSITY

LEGEND:

TOWNHOMES - MAX. 200 HOMES

APARTMENTS - MAX. 240 UNITS

COMMERCIAL - AS CURRENTLY ZONED

(±55 ACRES)  MAX. 180 HOMES

(±123 ACRES)  MAX. 450 HOMES

(±26 ACRES)

(±22 ACRES)

(±40 ACRES) - NOT BEING REZONED

HWY 223 - WYLIES MILL ROAD
66' PUBLIC R/W

H
W

Y 9 - LAN
C

ASTER
 H

W
Y

PU
BLIC

 R
/W

 W
ID

TH
 VAR

IES

2

3

2 PARCEL ID: 124-00-00-027-000
JDSI, LLC
116 ACRES
D.B. 1329 PG. 300
EX. ZONING: R-2

no
rth

4-LANE ROAD-

2-LAN
E R

O
AD

-80' R
/W

2-LANE ROAD-80' R/W

80' R/W

POSSIBLE DEDICATION FOR
FIRE/POLICE, ETC.

3

1

EX. PONDS / STREAMS

BMP
POND

BMP
POND

BMP
POND

BMP
POND

BMP
POND

BMP
POND

COMMON OPEN SPACE
(15%± OF RESIDENTIAL USE)

AMENITY
AREA

AMENITY
AREA

(APPROXIMATELY 12 ACRES IN PROPOSED R/W)

PROJECT AREA = ±235 ACRES
NOTE:  ROAD LOCATIONS MAY SHIFT SLIGHTLY
BASED UPON FINAL ENGINEERING DESIGN.

PARCEL  3  IS ZONED
GENERAL COMMERCIAL
 & NOT BEING REZONED

MAXIMUM 630 SINGLE FAMILY HOMES
MAXIMUM DENSITY WITH APARTMENTS &
TOWNHOMES IS 4.55 DWELLINGS PER ACRE

APARTMENTS/

TOWNHOMES

TOWNHOMES

COMMERCIAL

MIN. 50' WIDE, 6000 S.F. LOTS

MIN. 60' WIDE, 7200 S.F. LOTS

GROSS DENSITY: 1070 UNITS/TOTAL 235 AC.
 = 4.55 UNITS PER ACRE
APPROXIMATE NET DENSITY (LESS R/W & COS):
ROAD R/W: 12 AC.
COS: 35.25 AC.
NET ACREAGE: 187.75 AC.
APPROX. NET DENSITY: 1070 UNITS/187.75 AC.
= 5.70 UNITS/ACRE

25' WIDE BUFFER

25' WIDE BUFFER

MODIFIED PER PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 L

AN
D

 U
SE

 S
IT

E 
PL

AN

N.T.S.

C1.0

REVISED PER PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION



LWE
N.C. CORP. LIC. C-1815

LATHAM-WALTERS
ENGINEERING, INC.

16507-A NORTHCROSS DRIVE
 HUNTERSVILLE, N.C. 28078

 PHONE: (704) 895-8484
FAX:  (704) 237-4362

C
H

ES
W

IC
K

LA
N

C
AS

TE
R

 H
W

Y 
& 

W
YL

IE
S 

M
IL

L 
R

O
AD

REVISIONS

PROJECT NO.: 2020.35

SCALE: 

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

SHEET NO:

JLW

MSL

DATE:  05/25/2021

3515 DOVEWOOD DRIVE
CHARLOTTE, NC  28226
 PHONE: (704)-361-7777

 judsonstringfellow@gmail.com

JDSI, LLC

R
IC

H
BU

R
G

, S
C

  2
97

29

05/25/2021  REVISEDPARCEL ID: 124-00-00-024-000
KIRKPATRICK AQUISITIONS, LLC
119 ACRES
D.B. 923 PG. 156
EX. ZONING: RS-1

1

PROPERTY OWNERS:

PARCEL ID: 124-00-00-029-000
ST. KATHERINE PROPERTIES, LLC
42 ACRES
D.B. 926 PG. 109
EX. ZONING:  GC

SINGLE-FAMILY - MEDIUM DENSITY

SINGLE-FAMILY - LOW DENSITY

LEGEND:

TOWNHOMES - MAX. 200 HOMES

APARTMENTS - MAX. 240 UNITS

COMMERCIAL - AS CURRENTLY ZONED

(±55 ACRES) MAX. 180 HOMES

(±123 ACRES) MAX. 450 HOMES

(±26 ACRES)

(±22 ACRES)

(±40 ACRES)HWY 223 - WYLIES MILL ROAD
66' PUBLIC R/W

H
W

Y 9 - LAN
C

ASTER
 H

W
Y

PU
BLIC

 R
/W

 W
ID

TH
 VAR

IES

2

3

2 PARCEL ID: 124-00-00-027-000
JDSI, LLC
116 ACRES
D.B. 1329 PG. 300
EX. ZONING: R-2

no
rth

(APPROXIMATELY 12 ACRES IN PROPOSED R/W)

4-LANE ROAD-

2-LAN
E R

O
AD

-80' R
/W

PROJECT AREA = ±235 ACRES
NOTE:  ROAD LOCATIONS MAY SHIFT SLIGHTLY
BASED UPON FINAL ENGINEERING DESIGN.

2-LANE ROAD-80' R/W

80' R/W

PARCEL  3  IS ZONED
GENERAL COMMERCIAL
 & NOT BEING REZONED

POSSIBLE DEDICATION FOR
FIRE/POLICE, ETC.

3

1

EX. PONDS / STREAMS

GENERAL CRITERIA:

1. NO RESIDENCE LOTS FRONT ON MAIN THOROUGHFARE SPINE ROADS - SPINE ROAD DESIGNED FOR
FUTURE EXTENSION & CONNECTION TO PRIOR CLUSTER PLAN PROJECT ON NORTH END (STUB
THOROUGHFARE STREET FOR POTENTIAL FUTURE DEVELOPMENT). ENTRANCE SPINE ROAD TO BE
FOUR LANE AS SHOWN ON PLAN (SUBJECT TO SCDOT APPROVAL), SECONDARY SPINE ROAD SECTIONS
TO BE TWO LANE BUT WITH 80 FT RIGHTS-OF-WAY FOR POTENTIAL FUTURE WIDENING TO FOUR LANES.
SPINE ROADS TO BE INSTALLED AS ADJACENT SECTIONS OF PROPERTY ARE DEVELOPED OVER TIME.
MOST ROADS WILL BE SCDOT MAINTAINED, SOME MULTI-FAMILY AREA ROADS WILL BE HOA MAINTAINED.

2. A FIXED IMPACT FEE OF $1,500 PER HOME/DWELLING WILL BE PAID TO CHESTER CO AT TIME OF
BUILDING PERMIT.

3. COUNTY WATER AND SEWER SERVICE TO BE EXTENDED TO ALL RESIDENTIAL OCCUPANCY AND
COMMERCIAL USE BUILDING LOTS.

4. RESIDENTIAL SECTIONS TO HAVE NO MORE THAN 200 HOMES PER ENTRANCE OFF SPINE ROADS.

5. APPROX 1.75 +/- ACRE DEDICATION TO COUNTY OR RICHBURG FIRE / POLICE DEPARTMENT ALONG
WYLIES MILL RD OR A MAIN SPINE ROAD SECTION AT LOCATION AS MUTUALLY AGREED.

6. MINIMUM 14% PARKS / GREEN / OPEN SPACE AREAS OF RESIDENTIAL AREA, ALL RESIDENTIAL
SECTIONS OPEN SPACES TO BE HOA MANAGED.

7. USE / DENSITY PER SECTION SHOWN ON MASTER PLAN MAP. SINGLE FAMILY TO BE DEVELOPED FIRST
AND BE AT LEAST 50% DEVELOPED BEFORE MULTI-FAMILY DEVELOPMENT STARTS.  MAXIMUM NUMBER
OF 630 SINGLE FAMILY HOMES, 200 TOWNHOMES AND 240 APARTMENTS, OVERALL DENSITY OF 4.55
DWELLINGS PER ACRE. DEVELOPMENT TO START APPROXIMATELY 12-18 MONTHS, TOTAL TIME
EXPECTED TO BE ABOUT 10 YEARS.

8. EXISTING TREES TO REMAIN WHERE REASONABLY POSSIBLE AND WHICH DO NOT INHIBIT BUILDING
CONSTRUCTION AND MEETING COUNTY & STATE DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS INCLUDING, BUT NOT
LIMITED TO, STORM DRAINAGE, EROSION CONTROL, ROAD & R/W, ETC REQUIREMENTS.

SPECIFIC AREA CRITERIA:

SINGLE FAMILY:
· MAXIMUM DENSITIES AS SHOWN ON MASTER PLAN MAP
· NO MORE THAN 200 HOMES PER ACCESS ENTRANCE ROAD CONNECTION TO MAIN SPINE ROADS.
· ALL SINGLE FAMILY HOMES TO HAVE MINIMUM 16' WIDE DRIVEWAY FOR OFF STREET PARKING OF 2

VEHICLES AND TWO CAR   GARAGES.
· DEVELOPED PER RG-2 ZONING STANDARDS EXCEPT AS STATED HEREIN
· MEDIUM DENSITY AREA: MINIMUM LOT SIZE SHALL BE 50 FT WIDE, 6,000 SQ FT, MINIMUM FRONT

SETBACK SHALL BE 25 FT,  MINIMUM SIDE SETBACK SHALL BE 6 FT (12 FT ON CORNER LOT), MINIMUM
REAR YARD SETBACK SHALL BE 20 FT

· LOW DENSITY AREA: MINIMUM LOT SIZE SHALL BE 60 FT WIDE, 7,200 SQ FT, MINIMUM FRONT
SETBACK SHALL BE 25 FT,  MINIMUM SIDE SETBACK SHALL BE 8 FT (15 FT ON CORNER LOT), MINIMUM
REAR YARD SETBACK SHALL BE 20 FT

· RESIDENTIAL SUBDIVISION ROAD RIGHTS-OF-WAY SHALL BE 50 FT WIDE AND PAVING WIDTHS SHALL
BE AS PER SCDOT 2017  ROADWAY DESIGN MANUAL - LOCAL ROADS AND STREETS SECTION 14.2.4.3

TOWNHOMES:
· 25 +/- ACRES, MAXIMUM 200 HOMES (8 HOMES PER ACRE MAXIMUM)
· DEVELOPED PER RG-2 ZONING STANDARDS EXCEPT AS STATED HEREIN
· MAY BE MIX OF PUBLIC & PRIVATE DEDICATED STREETS (IF PRIVATE WILL BE MAINTAINED BY HOA),

ROAD RIGHTS-OF-WAY SHALL BE 50 FT WIDE AND PAVING WIDTHS SHALL BE AS PER SCDOT 2017
ROADWAY DESIGN MANUAL - LOCAL ROADS AND STREETS SECTION 14.2.4.3.

· MINIMUM SIDE SETBACK SHALL BE 10 FEET, (15 FT ON CORNER LOTS), MINIMUM 20 FT BETWEEN
SIDES OF ADJACENT BUILDINGS. MINIMUM REAR SETBACK SHALL BE 20 FEET (MINIMUM 40 FT
BETWEEN REARS OF ADJACENT BUILDINGS).

· TOWNHOMES TO BE SOLD INDIVIDUALLY WITH A MINIMUM OF 800 SQ FT OF LAND NOT LOCATED
UNDER THE TOWNHOME UNIT (IE, FRONT / REAR / SIDE YARDS)

· MINIMUM TOWNHOME WIDTH = 20 FT, ALL WITH ONE CAR GARAGE

APARTMENTS/TOWNHOMES:
· 20 +/- ACRES, MAXIMUM 240 UNITS (12 UNITS PER ACRE MAXIMUM / 8 UNITS PER ACRE IF DEVELOPED

AS TOWNHOMES)
· DEVELOPED PER RG-2 ZONING STANDARDS EXCEPT AS STATED HEREIN IF DEVELOPED AS

APARTMENTS
· IF DEVELOPED AS TOWNHOMES, THE ABOVE TOWNHOME STANDARDS WILL APPLY

MAXIMUM 630 SINGLE FAMILY HOMES
MAXIMUM DENSITY WITH APARTMENTS &
TOWNHOMES IS 4.55 DWELLINGS PER ACRE C1.1

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 L

AN
D

 U
SE

 S
IT

E 
PL

AN

1"=250'



LWE
N.C. CORP. LIC. C-1815

LATHAM-WALTERS
ENGINEERING, INC.

16507-A NORTHCROSS DRIVE
 HUNTERSVILLE, N.C. 28078

 PHONE: (704) 895-8484
FAX:  (704) 237-4362

C
H

ES
W

IC
K

LA
N

C
AS

TE
R

 H
W

Y 
& 

W
YL

IE
S 

M
IL

L 
R

O
AD

REVISIONS

PROJECT NO.: 2020.35

SCALE: 

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

SHEET NO:

JLW

MSL

DATE:  05/25/2021

3515 DOVEWOOD DRIVE
CHARLOTTE, NC  28226
 PHONE: (704)-361-7777

 judsonstringfellow@gmail.com

JDSI, LLC

R
IC

H
BU

R
G

, S
C

  2
97

29

05/25/2021  REVISED

PARCEL ID: 124-00-00-024-000
KIRKPATRICK AQUISITIONS, LLC
119 ACRES
D.B. 923 PG. 156
EX. ZONING: RS-1

1

PROPERTY OWNERS:

PARCEL ID: 124-00-00-029-000
ST. KATHERINE PROPERTIES, LLC
42 ACRES
D.B. 926 PG. 109
EX. ZONING:  GC

HWY 223 - WYLIES MILL ROAD

66' PUBLIC R/W

HW
Y 9 - LANCASTER HW

Y

PUBLIC R/W
 W

IDTH VARIES

EX. PONDS / STREAMS

3

2

1

3

2 PARCEL ID: 124-00-00-027-000
JDSI, LLC
116 ACRES
D.B. 1329 PG. 300
EX. ZONING: R-2

north

4-LANE ROAD-

2-LANE RO
AD-80 R/W

2-LANE ROAD-80 R/W

80 R/W

POSSIBLE DEDICATION FOR
FIRE/POLICE, ETC.

EX. WETLANDS

PROPOSED FUTURE
THOROUGHFARE
ROAD NETWORK

PROPOSED FUTURE
THOROUGHFARE
ROAD NETWORK

SINGLE-FAMILY - MEDIUM DENSITY

SINGLE-FAMILY - LOW DENSITY

LEGEND:

TOWNHOMES-MAX. 200 HOMES

APARTMENTS - MAX. 240 UNITS

COMMERCIAL - AS CURRENTLY ZONED

(±55 ACRES)

(±123 ACRES)

(±26 ACRES)

(±22 ACRES)

(±40 ACRES)

EX
. E

DG
EL

AN
D 

RO
AD

66
' P

UB
LI

C 
R/

W

EX. VICTORIAN HILLS DRIVE

66' PUBLIC R/W

C1.2

C
O

N
C

EP
TU

AL
 F

U
TU

R
E 

M
AI

N
R

O
AD

 N
ET

W
O

R
K

1"=400'



LWE
N.C. CORP. LIC. C-1815

LATHAM-WALTERS
ENGINEERING, INC.

16507-A NORTHCROSS DRIVE
 HUNTERSVILLE, N.C. 28078

 PHONE: (704) 895-8484
FAX:  (704) 237-4362

C
H

ES
W

IC
K

LA
N

C
AS

TE
R

 H
W

Y 
& 

W
YL

IE
S 

M
IL

L 
R

O
AD

REVISIONS

PROJECT NO.: 2020.35

SCALE: 

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

SHEET NO:

JLW

MSL

DATE:  04/07/2021

3515 DOVEWOOD DRIVE
CHARLOTTE, NC  28226
 PHONE: (704)-361-7777

 judsonstringfellow@gmail.com

JDSI, LLC

R
IC

H
BU

R
G

, S
C

  2
97

29

C1.3

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 R

EP
R

ES
EN

TA
TI

VE
H

O
M

E 
EX

TE
R

IO
R

 P
IC

TU
R

ES

AS SHOWN



Proposed “Cheswick” 235 acres PD Rezoning Included Terms 
(Amended per Planning Commission Recommendation) 

 
General Criteria: 
 
1) No residence lots front on main spine roads – spine road designed for possible future extension &  connection to prior 

cluster plan project on north end (stub spine road for potential future development). Entrance spine road to be four 
lane as shown on plan (per SCDOT approval), secondary spine road sections to be two lane but with 80 ft rights-of-
way for potential future four lane widening.  Spine roads to be installed as adjacent sections of property are developed 
over time. Most roads will be SCDOT maintained, some multi-family area roads will be HOA maintained. 
 

2) A fixed “impact fee” of $1,500 per home/dwelling will be paid to Chester Co for schools / public service at time of 
building permits (in addition to water & sewer system impact fees).  

 
3) County water and sewer service to be extended to all residential occupancy and commercial use building lots.  

 
4) Residential sections to have no more than 200 homes per entrance off spine roads.   
 
5) Approx 1.75 +/- acre dedication to county or Richburg along Wylies Mill Rd or a main spine road section at location as 

mutually agreed for police / EMT / fire or other public use  
 
6) Minimum 14% parks / green / open space areas of residential area, all residential sections open spaces to be HOA 

managed. 
 
7) Use / density per section shown on master site plan map. Single family to be developed first and be at least 50% 

developed before multi-family development starts.  Maximum number of 630 single family homes, 200 townhouses 
and 240 apartments, overall density of 4.55 dwellings per acre. The maximum net area density after subtracting public 
road R/W’s and Open Space Areas is approximately 5.7 dwellings per acre. Development to start approximately 12-
18 months after rezoning, total time expected to be about 10 years.  

 
8) Existing trees to remain where reasonably possible and which do not inhibit building construction and meeting county 

& state development requirements including, but not limited to, storm drainage, erosion control, road & R/W, etc 
requirements.  

 
Specific Area Criteria: 
 
Single family: 

a) Maximum densities as shown on master plan map 
b) No more than 200 homes per access entrance road connection to main spine roads.  
c) All single family homes to have minimum 16’ wide driveway for off street parking of 2 vehicles and two car 

garages. 
d) Developed per RG-2 zoning standards except as stated herein 
e) Medium Density Area: minimum lot size shall be 50 ft wide, minimum 6,000 sq ft, minimum front setback shall be 

25 ft, minimum side setback shall be 6 ft (12 ft on corner lot), minimum rear yard setback shall be 20 ft 
f) Low Density Area: minimum lot size shall be 60 ft wide, minimum 7,200 sq ft, minimum front setback shall be 25 

ft, minimum side setback shall be 7 ft (13 ft on corner lot), minimum rear yard setback shall be 20 ft 
g) Residential subdivision road rights-of-way shall be 50 ft wide and paving widths shall be as per SCDOT 2017 

Roadway Design Manual – Local Roads and Streets section 14.2.4.3 
 

Townhouses: 
a) 25 +/- acres, maximum 200 homes (8 homes per acre maximum) 
b) Developed per RG-2 zoning standards except as stated herein 
c) May be mix of public & private dedicated streets (if private will be maintained by HOA), road rights-of-way shall be 

50 ft wide and paving widths shall be as per SCDOT 2017 Roadway Design Manual – Local Roads and Streets 
section 14.2.4.3. 

d) Minimum side setback shall be 10 feet, (15 ft on corner lots), minimum 20 ft between sides of adjacent buildings. 
Minimum rear setback shall be 20 feet (minimum 40 ft between rears of adjacent buildings). 

e) Townhouses to be sold individually with a minimum of 800 sq ft of land not located under the townhome unit (ie, 
front / rear / side yards)  

f) Minimum townhome width = 20 ft, all with one car garage 
 
Apartments/Townhouses: 

a) 20 +/- acres, maximum 240 units (12 units per acre maximum / 8 units per acre if developed as townhouses) 
b) Developed per RG-2 zoning standards except as stated herein if developed as apartments 
c) If developed as townhouses, the above townhouse standards will apply 







































LWE
N.C. CORP. LIC. C-1815

LATHAM-WALTERS
ENGINEERING, INC.

16507-A NORTHCROSS DRIVE
 HUNTERSVILLE, N.C. 28078

 PHONE: (704) 895-8484
FAX:  (704) 237-4362

C
H

ES
W

IC
K

LA
N

C
AS

TE
R

 H
W

Y 
& 

W
YL

IE
S 

M
IL

L 
R

O
AD

REVISIONS

PROJECT NO.: 2020.35

SCALE: 

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

SHEET NO:

JLW

MSL

DATE:  05/25/2021

3515 DOVEWOOD DRIVE
CHARLOTTE, NC  28226
 PHONE: (704)-361-7777

 judsonstringfellow@gmail.com

JDSI, LLC

R
IC

H
BU

R
G

, S
C

  2
97

29

05/25/2021  REVISED

PARCEL ID: 124-00-00-024-000
KIRKPATRICK AQUISITIONS, LLC
119 ACRES
D.B. 923 PG. 156
EX. ZONING: RS-1

1

PARCEL ID: 124-00-00-029-000
ST. KATHERINE PROPERTIES, LLC
42 ACRES
D.B. 926 PG. 109
EX. ZONING:  GC

SINGLE-FAMILY - MEDIUM DENSITY

SINGLE-FAMILY - LOW DENSITY

LEGEND:

TOWNHOMES - MAX. 200 HOMES

APARTMENTS - MAX. 240 UNITS

COMMERCIAL - AS CURRENTLY ZONED

(±55 ACRES)  MAX. 180 HOMES

(±123 ACRES)  MAX. 450 HOMES

(±26 ACRES)

(±22 ACRES)

(±40 ACRES) - NOT BEING REZONED

HWY 223 - WYLIES MILL ROAD
66' PUBLIC R/W

H
W

Y 9 - LAN
C

ASTER
 H

W
Y

PU
BLIC

 R
/W

 W
ID

TH
 VAR

IES

2

3

2 PARCEL ID: 124-00-00-027-000
JDSI, LLC
116 ACRES
D.B. 1329 PG. 300
EX. ZONING: R-2

no
rth

4-LANE ROAD-

2-LAN
E R

O
AD

-80' R
/W

2-LANE ROAD-80' R/W

80' R/W

POSSIBLE DEDICATION FOR
FIRE/POLICE, ETC.

3

1

EX. PONDS / STREAMS

BMP
POND

BMP
POND

BMP
POND

BMP
POND

BMP
POND

BMP
POND

COMMON OPEN SPACE
(15%± OF RESIDENTIAL USE)

AMENITY
AREA

AMENITY
AREA

(APPROXIMATELY 12 ACRES IN PROPOSED R/W)

PROJECT AREA = ±235 ACRES
NOTE:  ROAD LOCATIONS MAY SHIFT SLIGHTLY
BASED UPON FINAL ENGINEERING DESIGN.

PARCEL  3  IS ZONED
GENERAL COMMERCIAL
 & NOT BEING REZONED

MAXIMUM 630 SINGLE FAMILY HOMES
MAXIMUM DENSITY WITH APARTMENTS &
TOWNHOMES IS 4.55 DWELLINGS PER ACRE

APARTMENTS/

TOWNHOMES

TOWNHOMES

COMMERCIAL

MIN. 50' WIDE, 6000 S.F. LOTS

MIN. 60' WIDE, 7200 S.F. LOTS

GROSS DENSITY: 1070 UNITS/TOTAL 235 AC.
 = 4.55 UNITS PER ACRE
APPROXIMATE NET DENSITY (LESS R/W & COS):
ROAD R/W: 12 AC.
COS: 35.25 AC.
NET ACREAGE: 187.75 AC.
APPROX. NET DENSITY: 1070 UNITS/187.75 AC.
= 5.70 UNITS/ACRE

25' WIDE BUFFER

25' WIDE BUFFER

MODIFIED PER PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 L

AN
D

 U
SE

 S
IT

E 
PL

AN

N.T.S.

C1.0

REVISED PER PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION



LWE
N.C. CORP. LIC. C-1815

LATHAM-WALTERS
ENGINEERING, INC.

16507-A NORTHCROSS DRIVE
 HUNTERSVILLE, N.C. 28078

 PHONE: (704) 895-8484
FAX:  (704) 237-4362

C
H

ES
W

IC
K

LA
N

C
AS

TE
R

 H
W

Y 
& 

W
YL

IE
S 

M
IL

L 
R

O
AD

REVISIONS

PROJECT NO.: 2020.35

SCALE: 

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

SHEET NO:

JLW

MSL

DATE:  05/25/2021

3515 DOVEWOOD DRIVE
CHARLOTTE, NC  28226
 PHONE: (704)-361-7777

 judsonstringfellow@gmail.com

JDSI, LLC

R
IC

H
BU

R
G

, S
C

  2
97

29

05/25/2021  REVISEDPARCEL ID: 124-00-00-024-000
KIRKPATRICK AQUISITIONS, LLC
119 ACRES
D.B. 923 PG. 156
EX. ZONING: RS-1

1

PROPERTY OWNERS:

PARCEL ID: 124-00-00-029-000
ST. KATHERINE PROPERTIES, LLC
42 ACRES
D.B. 926 PG. 109
EX. ZONING:  GC

SINGLE-FAMILY - MEDIUM DENSITY

SINGLE-FAMILY - LOW DENSITY

LEGEND:

TOWNHOMES - MAX. 200 HOMES

APARTMENTS - MAX. 240 UNITS

COMMERCIAL - AS CURRENTLY ZONED

(±55 ACRES) MAX. 180 HOMES

(±123 ACRES) MAX. 450 HOMES

(±26 ACRES)

(±22 ACRES)

(±40 ACRES)HWY 223 - WYLIES MILL ROAD
66' PUBLIC R/W

H
W

Y 9 - LAN
C

ASTER
 H

W
Y

PU
BLIC

 R
/W

 W
ID

TH
 VAR

IES

2

3

2 PARCEL ID: 124-00-00-027-000
JDSI, LLC
116 ACRES
D.B. 1329 PG. 300
EX. ZONING: R-2

no
rth

(APPROXIMATELY 12 ACRES IN PROPOSED R/W)

4-LANE ROAD-

2-LAN
E R

O
AD

-80' R
/W

PROJECT AREA = ±235 ACRES
NOTE:  ROAD LOCATIONS MAY SHIFT SLIGHTLY
BASED UPON FINAL ENGINEERING DESIGN.

2-LANE ROAD-80' R/W

80' R/W

PARCEL  3  IS ZONED
GENERAL COMMERCIAL
 & NOT BEING REZONED

POSSIBLE DEDICATION FOR
FIRE/POLICE, ETC.

3

1

EX. PONDS / STREAMS

GENERAL CRITERIA:

1. NO RESIDENCE LOTS FRONT ON MAIN THOROUGHFARE SPINE ROADS - SPINE ROAD DESIGNED FOR
FUTURE EXTENSION & CONNECTION TO PRIOR CLUSTER PLAN PROJECT ON NORTH END (STUB
THOROUGHFARE STREET FOR POTENTIAL FUTURE DEVELOPMENT). ENTRANCE SPINE ROAD TO BE
FOUR LANE AS SHOWN ON PLAN (SUBJECT TO SCDOT APPROVAL), SECONDARY SPINE ROAD SECTIONS
TO BE TWO LANE BUT WITH 80 FT RIGHTS-OF-WAY FOR POTENTIAL FUTURE WIDENING TO FOUR LANES.
SPINE ROADS TO BE INSTALLED AS ADJACENT SECTIONS OF PROPERTY ARE DEVELOPED OVER TIME.
MOST ROADS WILL BE SCDOT MAINTAINED, SOME MULTI-FAMILY AREA ROADS WILL BE HOA MAINTAINED.

2. A FIXED IMPACT FEE OF $1,500 PER HOME/DWELLING WILL BE PAID TO CHESTER CO AT TIME OF
BUILDING PERMIT.

3. COUNTY WATER AND SEWER SERVICE TO BE EXTENDED TO ALL RESIDENTIAL OCCUPANCY AND
COMMERCIAL USE BUILDING LOTS.

4. RESIDENTIAL SECTIONS TO HAVE NO MORE THAN 200 HOMES PER ENTRANCE OFF SPINE ROADS.

5. APPROX 1.75 +/- ACRE DEDICATION TO COUNTY OR RICHBURG FIRE / POLICE DEPARTMENT ALONG
WYLIES MILL RD OR A MAIN SPINE ROAD SECTION AT LOCATION AS MUTUALLY AGREED.

6. MINIMUM 14% PARKS / GREEN / OPEN SPACE AREAS OF RESIDENTIAL AREA, ALL RESIDENTIAL
SECTIONS OPEN SPACES TO BE HOA MANAGED.

7. USE / DENSITY PER SECTION SHOWN ON MASTER PLAN MAP. SINGLE FAMILY TO BE DEVELOPED FIRST
AND BE AT LEAST 50% DEVELOPED BEFORE MULTI-FAMILY DEVELOPMENT STARTS.  MAXIMUM NUMBER
OF 630 SINGLE FAMILY HOMES, 200 TOWNHOMES AND 240 APARTMENTS, OVERALL DENSITY OF 4.55
DWELLINGS PER ACRE. DEVELOPMENT TO START APPROXIMATELY 12-18 MONTHS, TOTAL TIME
EXPECTED TO BE ABOUT 10 YEARS.

8. EXISTING TREES TO REMAIN WHERE REASONABLY POSSIBLE AND WHICH DO NOT INHIBIT BUILDING
CONSTRUCTION AND MEETING COUNTY & STATE DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS INCLUDING, BUT NOT
LIMITED TO, STORM DRAINAGE, EROSION CONTROL, ROAD & R/W, ETC REQUIREMENTS.

SPECIFIC AREA CRITERIA:

SINGLE FAMILY:
· MAXIMUM DENSITIES AS SHOWN ON MASTER PLAN MAP
· NO MORE THAN 200 HOMES PER ACCESS ENTRANCE ROAD CONNECTION TO MAIN SPINE ROADS.
· ALL SINGLE FAMILY HOMES TO HAVE MINIMUM 16' WIDE DRIVEWAY FOR OFF STREET PARKING OF 2

VEHICLES AND TWO CAR   GARAGES.
· DEVELOPED PER RG-2 ZONING STANDARDS EXCEPT AS STATED HEREIN
· MEDIUM DENSITY AREA: MINIMUM LOT SIZE SHALL BE 50 FT WIDE, 6,000 SQ FT, MINIMUM FRONT

SETBACK SHALL BE 25 FT,  MINIMUM SIDE SETBACK SHALL BE 6 FT (12 FT ON CORNER LOT), MINIMUM
REAR YARD SETBACK SHALL BE 20 FT

· LOW DENSITY AREA: MINIMUM LOT SIZE SHALL BE 60 FT WIDE, 7,200 SQ FT, MINIMUM FRONT
SETBACK SHALL BE 25 FT,  MINIMUM SIDE SETBACK SHALL BE 8 FT (15 FT ON CORNER LOT), MINIMUM
REAR YARD SETBACK SHALL BE 20 FT

· RESIDENTIAL SUBDIVISION ROAD RIGHTS-OF-WAY SHALL BE 50 FT WIDE AND PAVING WIDTHS SHALL
BE AS PER SCDOT 2017  ROADWAY DESIGN MANUAL - LOCAL ROADS AND STREETS SECTION 14.2.4.3

TOWNHOMES:
· 25 +/- ACRES, MAXIMUM 200 HOMES (8 HOMES PER ACRE MAXIMUM)
· DEVELOPED PER RG-2 ZONING STANDARDS EXCEPT AS STATED HEREIN
· MAY BE MIX OF PUBLIC & PRIVATE DEDICATED STREETS (IF PRIVATE WILL BE MAINTAINED BY HOA),

ROAD RIGHTS-OF-WAY SHALL BE 50 FT WIDE AND PAVING WIDTHS SHALL BE AS PER SCDOT 2017
ROADWAY DESIGN MANUAL - LOCAL ROADS AND STREETS SECTION 14.2.4.3.

· MINIMUM SIDE SETBACK SHALL BE 10 FEET, (15 FT ON CORNER LOTS), MINIMUM 20 FT BETWEEN
SIDES OF ADJACENT BUILDINGS. MINIMUM REAR SETBACK SHALL BE 20 FEET (MINIMUM 40 FT
BETWEEN REARS OF ADJACENT BUILDINGS).

· TOWNHOMES TO BE SOLD INDIVIDUALLY WITH A MINIMUM OF 800 SQ FT OF LAND NOT LOCATED
UNDER THE TOWNHOME UNIT (IE, FRONT / REAR / SIDE YARDS)

· MINIMUM TOWNHOME WIDTH = 20 FT, ALL WITH ONE CAR GARAGE

APARTMENTS/TOWNHOMES:
· 20 +/- ACRES, MAXIMUM 240 UNITS (12 UNITS PER ACRE MAXIMUM / 8 UNITS PER ACRE IF DEVELOPED

AS TOWNHOMES)
· DEVELOPED PER RG-2 ZONING STANDARDS EXCEPT AS STATED HEREIN IF DEVELOPED AS

APARTMENTS
· IF DEVELOPED AS TOWNHOMES, THE ABOVE TOWNHOME STANDARDS WILL APPLY

MAXIMUM 630 SINGLE FAMILY HOMES
MAXIMUM DENSITY WITH APARTMENTS &
TOWNHOMES IS 4.55 DWELLINGS PER ACRE C1.1

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 L

AN
D

 U
SE

 S
IT

E 
PL

AN

1"=250'



LWE
N.C. CORP. LIC. C-1815

LATHAM-WALTERS
ENGINEERING, INC.

16507-A NORTHCROSS DRIVE
 HUNTERSVILLE, N.C. 28078

 PHONE: (704) 895-8484
FAX:  (704) 237-4362

C
H

ES
W

IC
K

LA
N

C
AS

TE
R

 H
W

Y 
& 

W
YL

IE
S 

M
IL

L 
R

O
AD

REVISIONS

PROJECT NO.: 2020.35

SCALE: 

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

SHEET NO:

JLW

MSL

DATE:  05/25/2021

3515 DOVEWOOD DRIVE
CHARLOTTE, NC  28226
 PHONE: (704)-361-7777

 judsonstringfellow@gmail.com

JDSI, LLC

R
IC

H
BU

R
G

, S
C

  2
97

29

05/25/2021  REVISED

PARCEL ID: 124-00-00-024-000
KIRKPATRICK AQUISITIONS, LLC
119 ACRES
D.B. 923 PG. 156
EX. ZONING: RS-1

1

PROPERTY OWNERS:

PARCEL ID: 124-00-00-029-000
ST. KATHERINE PROPERTIES, LLC
42 ACRES
D.B. 926 PG. 109
EX. ZONING:  GC

HWY 223 - WYLIES MILL ROAD

66' PUBLIC R/W

HW
Y 9 - LANCASTER HW

Y

PUBLIC R/W
 W

IDTH VARIES

EX. PONDS / STREAMS

3

2

1

3

2 PARCEL ID: 124-00-00-027-000
JDSI, LLC
116 ACRES
D.B. 1329 PG. 300
EX. ZONING: R-2

north

4-LANE ROAD-

2-LANE RO
AD-80 R/W

2-LANE ROAD-80 R/W

80 R/W

POSSIBLE DEDICATION FOR
FIRE/POLICE, ETC.

EX. WETLANDS

PROPOSED FUTURE
THOROUGHFARE
ROAD NETWORK

PROPOSED FUTURE
THOROUGHFARE
ROAD NETWORK

SINGLE-FAMILY - MEDIUM DENSITY

SINGLE-FAMILY - LOW DENSITY

LEGEND:

TOWNHOMES-MAX. 200 HOMES

APARTMENTS - MAX. 240 UNITS

COMMERCIAL - AS CURRENTLY ZONED

(±55 ACRES)

(±123 ACRES)

(±26 ACRES)

(±22 ACRES)

(±40 ACRES)

EX
. E

DG
EL

AN
D 

RO
AD

66
' P

UB
LI

C 
R/

W

EX. VICTORIAN HILLS DRIVE

66' PUBLIC R/W

C1.2

C
O

N
C

EP
TU

AL
 F

U
TU

R
E 

M
AI

N
R

O
AD

 N
ET

W
O

R
K

1"=400'



LWE
N.C. CORP. LIC. C-1815

LATHAM-WALTERS
ENGINEERING, INC.

16507-A NORTHCROSS DRIVE
 HUNTERSVILLE, N.C. 28078

 PHONE: (704) 895-8484
FAX:  (704) 237-4362

C
H

ES
W

IC
K

LA
N

C
AS

TE
R

 H
W

Y 
& 

W
YL

IE
S 

M
IL

L 
R

O
AD

REVISIONS

PROJECT NO.: 2020.35

SCALE: 

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

SHEET NO:

JLW

MSL

DATE:  04/07/2021

3515 DOVEWOOD DRIVE
CHARLOTTE, NC  28226
 PHONE: (704)-361-7777

 judsonstringfellow@gmail.com

JDSI, LLC

R
IC

H
BU

R
G

, S
C

  2
97

29

C1.3

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 R

EP
R

ES
EN

TA
TI

VE
H

O
M

E 
EX

TE
R

IO
R

 P
IC

TU
R

ES

AS SHOWN



Proposed “Cheswick” 235 acres PD Rezoning Included Terms 
(Amended per Planning Commission Recommendation) 

 
General Criteria: 
 
1) No residence lots front on main spine roads – spine road designed for possible future extension &  connection to prior 

cluster plan project on north end (stub spine road for potential future development). Entrance spine road to be four 
lane as shown on plan (per SCDOT approval), secondary spine road sections to be two lane but with 80 ft rights-of-
way for potential future four lane widening.  Spine roads to be installed as adjacent sections of property are developed 
over time. Most roads will be SCDOT maintained, some multi-family area roads will be HOA maintained. 
 

2) A fixed “impact fee” of $1,500 per home/dwelling will be paid to Chester Co for schools / public service at time of 
building permits (in addition to water & sewer system impact fees).  

 
3) County water and sewer service to be extended to all residential occupancy and commercial use building lots.  

 
4) Residential sections to have no more than 200 homes per entrance off spine roads.   
 
5) Approx 1.75 +/- acre dedication to county or Richburg along Wylies Mill Rd or a main spine road section at location as 

mutually agreed for police / EMT / fire or other public use  
 
6) Minimum 14% parks / green / open space areas of residential area, all residential sections open spaces to be HOA 

managed. 
 
7) Use / density per section shown on master site plan map. Single family to be developed first and be at least 50% 

developed before multi-family development starts.  Maximum number of 630 single family homes, 200 townhouses 
and 240 apartments, overall density of 4.55 dwellings per acre. The maximum net area density after subtracting public 
road R/W’s and Open Space Areas is approximately 5.7 dwellings per acre. Development to start approximately 12-
18 months after rezoning, total time expected to be about 10 years.  

 
8) Existing trees to remain where reasonably possible and which do not inhibit building construction and meeting county 

& state development requirements including, but not limited to, storm drainage, erosion control, road & R/W, etc 
requirements.  

 
Specific Area Criteria: 
 
Single family: 

a) Maximum densities as shown on master plan map 
b) No more than 200 homes per access entrance road connection to main spine roads.  
c) All single family homes to have minimum 16’ wide driveway for off street parking of 2 vehicles and two car 

garages. 
d) Developed per RG-2 zoning standards except as stated herein 
e) Medium Density Area: minimum lot size shall be 50 ft wide, minimum 6,000 sq ft, minimum front setback shall be 

25 ft, minimum side setback shall be 6 ft (12 ft on corner lot), minimum rear yard setback shall be 20 ft 
f) Low Density Area: minimum lot size shall be 60 ft wide, minimum 7,200 sq ft, minimum front setback shall be 25 

ft, minimum side setback shall be 7 ft (13 ft on corner lot), minimum rear yard setback shall be 20 ft 
g) Residential subdivision road rights-of-way shall be 50 ft wide and paving widths shall be as per SCDOT 2017 

Roadway Design Manual – Local Roads and Streets section 14.2.4.3 
 

Townhouses: 
a) 25 +/- acres, maximum 200 homes (8 homes per acre maximum) 
b) Developed per RG-2 zoning standards except as stated herein 
c) May be mix of public & private dedicated streets (if private will be maintained by HOA), road rights-of-way shall be 

50 ft wide and paving widths shall be as per SCDOT 2017 Roadway Design Manual – Local Roads and Streets 
section 14.2.4.3. 

d) Minimum side setback shall be 10 feet, (15 ft on corner lots), minimum 20 ft between sides of adjacent buildings. 
Minimum rear setback shall be 20 feet (minimum 40 ft between rears of adjacent buildings). 

e) Townhouses to be sold individually with a minimum of 800 sq ft of land not located under the townhome unit (ie, 
front / rear / side yards)  

f) Minimum townhome width = 20 ft, all with one car garage 
 
Apartments/Townhouses: 

a) 20 +/- acres, maximum 240 units (12 units per acre maximum / 8 units per acre if developed as townhouses) 
b) Developed per RG-2 zoning standards except as stated herein if developed as apartments 
c) If developed as townhouses, the above townhouse standards will apply 























 

Brun DMC     PO Box 987     Harrisburg, NC 28075     Phone: 704-773-0051 
1 

 

BID EVALUATION 
Hazardous Materials Management Facility, RFP 2021-06, Chester Co. 
7/13/2021 
 
Below is a brief evaluation of the bid for Haz Mat, including both Leitner and JM Cope’s bids.  To make 
them comparable several scopes needed to be vetted.  Either included or excluded from each of the 
numbers.    The brief narratives on the second page will help explain the details.   
 

Submittal Date:  7/8/2021  
Evaluation Date:  7/13/2021  

    

BIDS    

BOBBITT JM COPE LEITNER SHELCO 

BOBBITT MPS CARLISLE LS3P 

$1,499,000 $1,173,000 $1,165,000 $1,494,104 
 

   
For comparison the two lowest bids, Leitner and JM Cope, are used.  
 

   
COSTS    

ITEM LEITNER JM COPE  

  CARLISLE MPS  

Bid $1,165,000  $1,173,000   
       

Add / Deducts      
Soil Allowance $44,508  Inc  

Site Asphalt (Park) Inc $0   
Site  6" Concrete (Drive) Inc $14,000   

Subguard Insur $0  ($8,293)  
Permit ($18,770) ($5,834)  

Total Comparable Cost 
(Excludes permit) $1,190,738  $1,172,873   

       
Time 360 210  
PEMB Delivery 2/15/2022 1/11/2022  
Completion 7/14/2022 4/28/2022  
Days Earlier   77  

       
Masonry Red brick Match color/size  

 
 
 



 

Brun DMC     PO Box 987     Harrisburg, NC 28075     Phone: 704-773-0051 
2 

 

 
Structure 

• Both Leitner and Cope are proposing pre-engineered metal buildings. (PEMB) 
 
Soil Allowance 

• Leitner excluded all unsuitable soil allowances ($44,508) from their bid.  

• Cope included $60,000.  

• This cost of $44,508 was added to Leitner for comparison purposes. 
 
Site Asphalt and Concrete 

• Parking and the drive areas.   

• Leitner included asphalt parking and “heavier” duty concrete (6”) drives.   

• Cope included concrete parking and heavy-duty asphalt drives.   

• Reversed of each other (see below for original bid costs).    

• I requested Cope provide costs for asphalt parking and HD concrete drive.    

• The net cost for Cope’s revision was added to Cope for comparison purposes.  
 

 Leitner  JM Cope (Orig $) 

Site Asphalt  $19,388 $61,000 

Site  6" Concrete  $68,400 $11,500 

 
Subguard Insurance 

• This item is not 100% needed on our end.   

• Leitner excluded.  

• Cope included.  

• This cost was deducted from Cope for comparison purposes. 
 
Permit 

• Permits should be a fixed cost by the county to the GC.   

• Leitner included $18,770.  

• Cope included $5834.    

• This cost was deducted from both for comparison purposes. 
 
Total Cost 

• Leitner’s comparable cost is $1,190,738. 

• Cope’s comparable cost is $1,172,873. 
 
Schedule 

• Leitner’s overall time is 360 days. 

• Cope’s overall time is 210 days.   

• Cope is 77 days earlier.   

• Cope also can order the PEMB approximately one month earlier.   



 

Brun DMC     PO Box 987     Harrisburg, NC 28075     Phone: 704-773-0051 
3 

 

• Cope’s completion time after the PEMB is delivered is also shorter than Leitner’s time after 
delivery. 

 
Masonry 

• Leitner included red brick.   

• Cope included masonry color and sizes to match existing. 

• Cope’s color / size to match is per the owner requirements and is anticipated to be more 
expensive than standard red brick.   

• No costs were changed from either for comparison purposes.   
 
Recommendation 
In comparing the details in the evaluation, JM Cope provides both lower cost and a better schedule.  We 
recommend moving forward with JM Cope for this project based on these key factors.   
 
 
 
 

 
 
 



BID TABULATION
Hazardous Materials Management Facility, RFP 2021-06, Chester Co.

Bid Date: 7/8/2021 Bid Time: 10:00am

1476 J A Cochran Bypass

Chester, South Carolina 29706

NAME RFP PG 1

EXHIBIT A 

NON COLL. 

AFF.

EXHIBIT B 

CERT OF 

FAMILIARITY

BID OFFER
ADDENDUM 

1

BOND 

FORMS

Bobbitt  / Bobbitt X X X $1,499,000 X X

JM Cope / MPS X X X $1,173,000 X X

Leitner / Carlisle X X X $1,165,000 X X

Shelco / LS3P X X X $1,494,104 X X

CONFIRMED BID TABULATION SHEET

Brun DMC

By:

Brun DMC     PO Box 987     Harrisburg, NC 28075     704-773-0051





Application for Chester County Boards, Commissions and Councils

Chester County Council selects citizens for service on Council Appointed Boards and Commissions 
from individuals who have either volunteered, been recommended for appointment or shown interest in being 
appointed. The Clerk to Council uses this form to update the roster of volunteers and give Council basic information 
about each volunteer. 

Date: ____________________ 

Board or Commission Appointment being sought: __________________________________________ 

Name: _______________________________________________ Occupation: ____________________________ 

Street Address: _______________________________________________________________________________ 

Mailing Address: (if different from above) ________________________________________________________ 

Telephone (Home): _______________________________ Cell: _ 

E-Mail: _

Date of Birth: ____/_____/_  SEX: _______

If recommended by a Council Member, indicate name: ______________________________________________

In which Council District do you reside? Please indicate (1-6) _________________________________________

Are you presently serving on a County Board or Commission? ________ If “yes” when does your term expire? 
_____/_____/____ 

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT: I, ________________________________________, as a voting member of any 
Chester County board, commission or council, agree to disqualify myself from voting on any issue(s) which may arise 
and in which a conflict of interest exists. 
(Signature)______________________________________________________________________________________. 
Board members shall serve at the will of the appointing Council member and terms shall also run concurrent with that 
of the appointer.  Please check the appropriate box below. 

Commissions/Committee
                                          

             

Boards
 Accommodation Tax Board  
 Board of Assessment of Appeals

    Construction Board of Appeals
 Catawba Mental Health Board   
 Catawba Regional Council Government       
 Catawba Regional Workforce Board                          

Chester County Library
 Hazel Pittman Center 
 Solid Waste Board  
 Zoning Board of Appeals 

� Airport Commission        
� Chester County Parks & Recreation 
� Chester County Planning Commission 
� Chester Rural Fire District Commission        
� John Keziah Park Commission   
� Lando Rural Fire District Commission 
� Fort Lawn Fire Protection Commission    
� Olde English District Commission 
� Richburg Fire District Commission  
� Chester Metropolitan District Commission 
� Gateway Steering Committee 
� Ad Hoc Burnt House Cemetery Committee 

Please Return to:  Clerk to Council, P.O. Box 580, Chester SC  29706 or you may call at (803)-377-7852 or email to klee@chestercounty.org 

06-29-2021

Fort Lawn Fire Dept. Board

Steve Nunn Retired

932 Seegars Rd. 

N/A

Mike Vaughn

1

no

Steve Nunn


	1. 7-19-2021 Agenda
	2. 7-6-2021 Council Minutes
	3. 2021-9 Ordinance to Repeal Section 46-94
	4. 2021-14  Resolution - Manetta Mills
	5. CCMA21-02 Chester Land Holdings_Redacted
	1. CCMA21-02 Chester Land Holdings
	2. Council Summary Letter
	3. Winchester Conceptual Rezoning Plan_2021.05.12
	4. RKA Transportation Engineering Services Agreement - Winchester - 04-14-2021
	5. Winchester Council Packet_2021.05.12
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12


	6. CCMA21-04 Chester Land Holdings_Redacted
	1. CCMA21-04 Chester Land Holdings
	2. Council Summary Letter
	3. Winchester Conceptual Rezoning Plan_2021.05.12
	4. RKA Transportation Engineering Services Agreement - Winchester - 04-14-2021
	5. Winchester Council Packet_2021.05.12
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12


	7. CCMA21-15 JDSI LLC_2021-05-25-141703528_Redacted
	CHESWICK-5-25-21.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	PROPOSED LAND USE SITE PLAN
	PLACEHOLDER


	Sheets and Views
	CONCEPTUAL FUTURE MAIN ROAD NETWORK
	PLACEHOLDER


	Sheets and Views
	PROPOSED LAND USE SITE PLAN
	PLACEHOLDER




	8. CCMA21-16 JDSI LLC_2021-05-25-142035295_Redacted
	CHESWICK-5-25-21.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	PROPOSED LAND USE SITE PLAN
	PLACEHOLDER


	Sheets and Views
	CONCEPTUAL FUTURE MAIN ROAD NETWORK
	PLACEHOLDER


	Sheets and Views
	PROPOSED LAND USE SITE PLAN
	PLACEHOLDER




	9. CCMA21-17 David Woods Rezone from RG1 to RG2_Redacted
	10. CCMA21-18 Eugene Raffaldt Rezone from RG1 to RG2_Redacted
	11. CCMA21-19 Carolina Gypsum LLC Rezone from GC to ID2_Redacted
	12.Haz Mat RFP 2021-06 Bid Evaluation 210713
	13. Betty Gilchrist resignation from Rural Fire Service Board
	14. Steve Nunn Application for Fort Lawn Fire Protection Commission [114]_Redacted



